
Salford Advisory Council for Religious Education 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Salford Advisory Council for Religious 
Education to be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 6 March 2018

TIME: 4.00 pm

VENUE: Faith Centre, University of Salford, University Road, Salford, M5 4BR

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Welcome and introductions 

2  Apologies for absence 

3  Minutes of the meeting held on the 31st October 2017 and 
matters arising 

(Pages 1 - 6)

4  Focus Group update – Kindra Belcher 

5  Primary and Secondary update – Kindra Belcher and Kerril 
Casey 

6  Humanist Supplement – David Milne (Pages 7 - 90)

7  Any other business 

8  Date and time of next meeting – meeting to be arranged in June 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 778 0138
Elizabeth Jones, Senior Management Support 
Officer

E-Mail: Elizabeth.Jones@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
 
    31 October 2017 
 
 Meeting commenced: 4:00pm 
 Meeting ended: 5:05pm 
  
PRESENT:   
 
Committee A: Imran Kotwal 
   Pat Wilson 
   Isobel Phillips 
    
 
Committee B: Reverend Daniel Burton 
 
 
Committee C: Anne Broomhead 
   Kerril Casey 
    
 
Committee D: Councillor Saunders 

Councillor Fletcher 
Councillor Brocklehurst 
Councillor Ryan 
Councillor R Wilson 

   Councillor P Wilson 
 
 
Officers:  Kindra Belcher – SACRE Advisor 
   Elizabeth Jones – SACRE Clerk 
 
 
Guest:   Magda Sachs 
 
 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Councillor Ryan welcomed members to the meeting and introductions were made. 
 
The meeting today is being held at St Thomas Church, introductions were made and 
thanks were given to Daniel for organising. 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Alex Klein, David Levien, David 
Milne, Jeremy Michelson and Revered Kim Wasey,  
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2 | P a g e  
 

3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 JUNE AND MATTERS ARISING 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 15th June were agreed as a true and 
correct record. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the minutes of the meeting held on 15th June were agreed as a 
true and correct record. 
 
 

4. HOLOCAUST MEMORIAL EVENT 2018 
  

Councillor Ryan welcomed Magda Sachs; Principal Policy & Equalities Officer, to the 
meeting. 
 
Magda who is organising the next Holocaust Memorial event proceeded to give an 
update: 

 The next Holocaust Memorial day falls on Saturday 27th January so it has been 
agreed that an event will be held on Monday 29th January 

 The Planning Group has now met twice; at the last meeting there was a 
discussion in regards to where the event would be held; a school was the 
planning groups preference but an email from the City Mayor and Councillor 
Merry stated the event will be held at Broughton Hub 

 It will be an evening event in community rooms 1 & 2 at Broughton Hub – 
everyone is welcome 

 We are now in the planning stages, we are looking at having a film segment 
and will focus on the Nazi Holocaust and Rwandan massacre 

 An idea is to showcase pupils work in the Foyer –  there will be mingling from 
6.30pm and then the event will start at 7pm 

 
Kindra Belcher added that an email was sent to all Salford schools asking them to get 
in touch if they are planning an event or if they need any resources; Christ the King 
offered to share their resources 
 
During the discussion the following points/questions were raised: 

 Kindra needs pointers to the resources that she can direct schools to 

 Can you produce a programme? listing every event going on, not just the 
evening one 

 Could you video record the work the children do, then circulate / use at next 
year’s event? It can then be used as a stimulus for other schools to showcase 
what you can do 

 HMD Trust have a huge number of teaching resources; sample lesson plan, 
film clips, survivor stories – will send the link to Kindra 

 Mrs Neuman and her son are happy to come into schools and present - Kindra 
/ Kerril to get back to Steve Titley 

 We have Wilson Cook Zeda speaking re: Rwandan Holocaust – he attended 
last year and lit a candle 

 Last year we invited Roma woman to speak 

 ‘To Rwanda and Back’ is a book well worth reading, it was recommended 
reading by the Rwandan community 

 ‘Forgiveness and Reconciliation’ New York Times photo exhibition – available 
online 

Page 2



3 | P a g e  
 

 Poem on Rwandan (HMD Trust website) – looking at including it in the event 

 At the next planning meeting we will be deciding who lights the candles 
 
RESOLVED: THAT (1) the information be noted. 
RESOLVED: THAT (2) email to Headteacher’s to go out in the weekly newsletter 
RESOLVED: THAT (3) Magda to send Kindra the link to HMD teaching resources 
RESOLVED: THAT (4) Kindra/Kerril to liaise with Steve Titley re: Mrs Neuman  
 
 

5. OPTING OUT OF RE SURVEY ANALYSIS 
 
Kindra referred to the results of the survey that were sent out to everyone via email. 
She explained that she has brought with her the syllabus and referred to page 11 
‘Right of withdrawal’ 
 
“This was first granted when RE was actually religious instruction and carried with it 
connotations of induction into the Christian faith. RE is very different now – open, 
broad, exploring a range of religious and non-religious worldviews. However, in the 
UK, parents still have the right to withdraw their children from RE/RME on the grounds 
that they wish to provide their own religious education. (School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 S71 (3)). This will be the parents’ responsibility. However, it is 
good practice to talk to parents to ensure that they understand the aims and value of 
RE before honouring this right. Students aged 18 or over have the right to withdraw 
themselves from RE” 
 
37 schools completed the survey and from that 16 has children that had been 
withdrawn, there is nothing unusual with the results, mainly Jehovah Witnesses and 
Muslim children being withdrawn. 
 
During the discussion the following points/questions were raised: 

 Can we give schools a script they can use if they are uncomfortable talking to 
parents 

 Can we direct them to Imran Kotwal? One school had 40 Muslim kids withdrawn 

 I think its lack of knowledge, with Muslim parents communication is key 

 Kindra suggested her and Imran Kotwal come together to write something that 
schools can use when there is a visit to a mosque etc. 

 It is the parents responsibility –but the guidance is vague as it doesn’t say if 
they provide it in school or out of school time 

 Years ago if there were lots of Jewish children there would be a Jewish 
assembly in lieu of the act of worship 

 At Monton Green we do have a daily act of collective worship; but worship is 
very broad 

 As a non-faith school (Ellesmere High) we have reflections on an issue, thinking 
about your own views and the views of others 

 Could we offer to facilitate a CPD event? 

 Maybe a Joint statement from Faith Communities in Salford could go out 
 
It was agreed that a thank you would go out to Headteacher’s in the weekly newsletter 
thanking the schools that participated. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT (1) the information be noted. 
RESOLVED: THAT (2) thank you to Headteacher’s to go in the weekly newsletter 

Page 3



4 | P a g e  
 

6. PRIMARY AND SECONDARY UPDATE  
 

PRIMARY:- 
Kindra referred to the minutes that were sent out via email which provides a detailed 
record of the last meeting that was held on 17th June, in total there were 12 people in 
attendance and the meeting discussed: 

o Assessment of RE/SIAMs Inspections 
o NATRE local group update 
o Holocaust memorial event 
o Islamaphobia reports 

 
The meeting commended Kindra for all her hard work. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the information be noted. 
 
 
SECONDARY:- 
Kerril Casey explained that with a teacher from Salford City Academy she was looking 
to set up an online support group; a lot of RE Teachers are already involved in a forum 
called ‘Save RE’ so they were contacted. The support group have not all got together 
yet but they have been sharing information and good practice and it is going well. 
 
Kerril met with David Levien after the Focus Group and produced and sent out a 
questionnaire to Secondary Schools that asks about awarding bodies for GCSE’s; so 
far nine schools have replied. 
The content of syllabus has changed quite a bit, but depth of knowledge they have to 
have is far greater, schools are finding some of it is wrong; particular around Islam. 
There are lots of teething problems, it would be great if Examiners come to speak to 
us. 
 
There is potential for four schools to get together to have a Secondary RE Conference, 
we could discuss ethical Issues in the Syllabus and have speakers and young people 
attending; we are in the planning stages but we will need funding. 
 
During the discussion the following points/questions were raised: 

 There has been a push on RE last month, you could put this info out to 
Governors – Governors have the opportunity to challenge 

 At Ellesmere we have a specialist teacher but the allocation is only one hour a 
fortnight and we are one of the better schools. Year 7 & 8 get 1 hour every 
fortnight of RE, years above only get it if choose RE as an option 

 I’ve (Daniel) been a Vicar here for 5 years and I am shocked how few school 
groups we have visiting the church 

 We (Isobel) have had 3 school trips to our church and none are from Salford 

 There is a lack of visits because of transport issues and the number of adults 
you would need; every adult would also need to have a CRB check 

 Schools are complying with the law; they can justify the low dedicated teaching 
hours and say it’s delivered through History etc. 

 It is not an Ofsted priority at an Inspection 

 There is some brilliant RE going on in our schools, and children coming out 
enthusiastic and motivated by the subject; it is having an impact 

 
RESOLVED: THAT the information be noted. 

Page 4



5 | P a g e  
 

 
 

7. HEARTSTONE PROJECT 
  

Councillor Ryan explained that he has been involved in the Heartstone Project which 
is about community cohesion. If you are a Governor of a school this is a good project 
to promote and get them involved in. 
 
Kerril added that it revolves around a book that you are encouraged to read with year 
5,6 and 7, you then have the opportunity to discuss the different themes; diversity, 
prejudice and resilience. 
We did it with our year 7 and the topic we focused on was resilience, all departments 
had an input. 
We also did it with our year 9 (not long after bomb) and took them to the Northern 
Quarter in Manchester and asked them to photograph any street art; they produced a 
fabulous photo exhibition. It made them think about how you get your voice and your 
opinion heard but in a positive and creative way. 
Pupils from the school performed with Sita at an event at Manchester Cathedral. Our 
school (Ellesemere) were the only Salford school to take part but Harrop Fold and 
Clarendon Primary School came to watch. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the information be noted. 

 
 
8. FOCUS GROUP ACTION PLAN 
 

Kindra explained that the Focus Group met and she referred to the minutes that were 
sent out via email 
 
The actions agreed were: 

1. To gain a better picture of the exercising of the right of withdrawal in Salford 
schools. 

2. To identify strengths of other SACRE’s nationwide  
3. To gain an overall broader picture of RE in Salford schools. 

 
It was a useful and positive meeting and they will be driving forward with the actions. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the information be noted. 
 

 
9. HUMANIST SUPPLEMENT 
 

This item was deferred till the March meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the information be noted. 

 
 
10. COMMISSION ON RE INTERIM REPORT CONSULTATION 
 

Elizabeth Jones referred to the email that was sent out 12th October, please send any 
comments and i will collate and then send a summary out to everyone before doing a 
submission on behalf of SACRE. 

Page 5



6 | P a g e  
 

 
RESOLVED: THAT the information be noted. 
 

 
11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

 

 Multi Faith Centre opening -16th November, 12-2pm at Salford University 
 

 ‘Twinning’s of Muslim and Jews’ Sunday 26th November at Salford Civic Centre. 
Speakers are Rebecca Long Bailey, Cllr Boshell, Cllr Saunders and 
Mohammed Ameen. 

 
 
12. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  

 
The meeting agreed that Elizabeth would send out some potential dates for the March 
meeting in order to maximise attendance and ensure we are quorate. 
 
A possible venue was discussed and it was suggested that it could take place at the 
new Multi Faith Centre at Salford University. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of SACRE will be scheduled on a date in March 
2018, to be held in a religious or education setting and members notified accordingly.   

Page 6



1 
 

A HUMANIST SUPPLEMENT TO THE AGREED SYLLABUS 

INTRODUCTION 

The overriding purpose of our 2016-2021 syllabus is to make RE inclusive of all 

children, and ‘ensure that pupils develop mutual respect and tolerance of those with 

different faiths and beliefs.’ This means meeting the needs of ‘children from families 

where non-religious world views are held, who are represented in almost all of our 

classrooms’, by giving full regard to world views as well as religions. 

Humanism is a secular system of belief that develops these values and meets these 

needs. It is much more than not being religious. It is about living a good life for the 

benefit of other human beings, without God but with values and beliefs that most of 

us share, summed up in the Golden Rule. 

This ‘Humanist Supplement’ (2017) gives full information on Humanist perspectives 

for 27 of the 40 units in the syllabus, organised by Strands. There is a general 

statement of the Humanist answer to the Unit’s Key Question, often quite detailed 

because it contains all the relevant information needed, even is this is repeated for 

other Units. This is followed by guidance on each reference to Humanism in the 

bullet points under ‘Suggested Content’. Additionally a large number of teaching and 

learning suggestions are provided for each Unit to help young people explore 

Humanist perspectives, each appropriate to the Unit’s age level. 

The syllabus has no separate Humanist Unit, but this Supplement contains an extra 

half Unit ‘What does it mean to be a Humanist in Britain today?’ (Unit U2.6 in the 

‘Believing’ Strand) which fills that gap. Please refer to this if you are a KS3 teacher 

and wish to expand on points about Humanism. Otherwise the syllabus relies on the 

strategy of permeation for understanding of non-religious perspectives, so it is really 

important that permeation is consistent in order to build up a full understanding.  

The ‘Humanist Supplement’ has been written by the Humanist representative on 

Manchester SACRE, Rob Grinter. He has had invaluable assistance from Maurice 

Smith, a past RE Adviser for Tameside, and Co-Editors Lat Blaylock, the writer of our 

Syllabus and editor of ‘RE Today’, and Luke Donnellan, Head of Education at the 

British Humanist Association (now ‘Humanists UK’). Almost all of the material is 

original, but the Supplement contains detailed references to ‘Understanding 

Humanism’, Humanists UK’s invaluable and comprehensive resource for teachers, 

which is being constantly updated and is available to all at 

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk. 

©Rob Grinter, June 2017. Permission is granted for schools to photocopy pages 

these materials for classroom use and the non-commercial furtherance of 

Humanism.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 6

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk./


2 
 

HUMANIST SUPPORT DOCUMENT FOR ‘RELIGIOUS LITERACY 

FOR ALL’ 

STRAND A:  BELIEVING 

CONTENTS 

 

Key Questions 

 

KQ F1:     WHICH STORIES ARE SPECIAL AND WHY?                                          3 

KQ F2:     WHICH PEOPLE ARE SPECIAL AND WHY?  4 

KQ L2.1:  WHAT DO DIFFERENT PEOPLE BELIEVE ABOUT GOD?   6  

KQ L2.3:  WHY IS JESUS INSPIRING TO SOME PEOPLE?   9 

KQ U2.1   WHY DO SOME PEOPLE BELIEVE GOD EXISTS?                               11  

KQ U2.3:  WHAT DO RELIGIONS SAY TO US WHEN LIFE GETS HARD?                 14 

KQ 3.1:   DO WE NEED TO PROVE GOD’S EXISTENCE?     16  

KQ3.3:     WHAT IS SO RADICAL ABOUT JESUS?                                               21  

KQ 3.4:    IS DEATH THE END? DOES IT MATTER?                                             22 

KQ3.5:     WHY IS THERE SUFFERING? ARE THERE ANY GOOD SOLUTIONS?        25 

 

 

     

     

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



3 
 

KEY QUESTION F1:  WHICH STORIES ARE SPECIAL AND WHY? 

Bullet point 1 Very young children in Britain are almost certain to give examples of 

non-religious fairy stories or fables among their special and well-loved stories 

Cinderella, Red Riding Hood and Jack and the Beanstalk spring to mind, while 

children brought up in a religious faith will also have their own stories like Rama and 

Sita defeating the evil god Hanuman. Stories from Disney and other movie sources 

are also likely to be mentioned by the children.  

Almost all are stories of the fight for good and the defeat of evil, and many have 

morals attached. So in many ways these stories are, or can be, the foundation of 

concepts of right and wrong for all of us – and teachers will always discuss the 

lessons of these stories for that purpose. This is Humanism: exploring with young 

people how to behave well, often in challenging or even dangerous situations – and 

the rewards for doing so.  

Bullet point 4 You could also expand the children’s experience by adding one or 

two of the fables of the Greek writer Aesop, exploring with them the moral lessons 

that he attached. Some examples are given below.  

Teaching about values and what is right and wrong through stories happens without 

preaching or moralising. As many of these special and well-loved stories are non-

religious, at this early stage in RE the foundations of morality are laid with a 

Humanist as much as a religious dimension. Children of all faiths and none can 

respond to them. 

In many religious stories, we learn from the human beings and their actions in the 

stories, rather than from the religion. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 A focus on the ‘Golden Rule’ – treating others as we’d like to be treated, and 

not treating others as we wouldn’t like to be treated. This ‘Rule’ features in 

almost all faiths and belief systems, and could be applied to every story. 

 

 Examples of the fables of Aesop include: 

 

‘Little friends may become great 
friends’  

 The Lion and the Mouse 

‘Things are not always what they 
seem’ 

 The Beekeeper and the Bees 

‘Never trust a flatterer’   The Fox and the Crow 

 

Page 9



4 
 

KEY QUESTION F2:  WHICH PEOPLE ARE SPECIAL AND WHY? 

Bullet point 1 Just as with stories, many of the special people for very young 

children are those they know and have grown up with, and who have loved and 

guided them. This will in most cases be their family; not just their mother and 

father, but probably their grandparents, possibly their uncles and aunts, maybe their 

older or younger brothers or sisters. Families take so many forms, and a special 

person may be a step-parent or a foster parent. But almost all children should have 

someone they can relate to who is special to them. They will hopefully also have 

special friends they have made at nursery or school.  

Bullet point 2 Other ‘special people’ who help the children in school could include 

volunteers who come in to help them read.  

For those brought up in a religious family, other special people will certainly include 

their religious leaders, or friends they have made at church, mosque, temple or 

synagogue. They will be special for the same reasons as the families and friends of 

non-religious children. Understanding this gives us common ground in our humanity. 

This is friendship, an important value for Humanists.  

Some people believe in a god or gods who can support them in their lives. 

Humanists do not believe in a god or gods, so the love and support of other people 

is important to them. 

Bullet point 4 The other important point for Humanists is that thinking about 

special people who help them shows children that other people matter – they are all 

valuable. It also reminds them that they themselves matter to their friends and 

family.  

Some people believe in a god or gods who can support them in their lives. 

Humanists do not believe in a god or gods, so the love and support of other people 

is important to them. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 Exploring why people are special could include ranking the reasons, or making 

them into a ‘friendship pie’ with different size portions.  

 

 Humanists would like to include moral dilemmas, because special friends are 

very important and have a lot of influence on what we do and think. Hopefully 

this is for the good, but if not it gives difficult choices. So too may supporting 

a special friend in difficult situations. For example: 

Page 10



5 
 

 you trust your special friend to lead you, but what would you do if he 

or she suggested doing something naughty. Would you stay special 

friends? 

 a bully wants to hurt your special friend, and asks you where he or she 

is. You know this: should you tell the bully, or is it OK to lie?  

    

 guest speakers could also include parent volunteers who help with reading 

and perhaps the school nurse.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



6 
 

KEY QUESTION L2.1: WHAT DO DIFFERENT PEOPLE BELIEVE ABOUT GOD? 

Almost all religious believers see God as all-powerful, all-knowing, all-loving and the 

source of goodness. They often see their beliefs as absolutely true. Humanists do 

not believe in absolute certainty or absolute truths: these can lead to some terrible 

acts against other people who do not share one’s beliefs. Humanists think that we 

must all work out our own understanding about the meaning of life. 

Bullet point 10 reminds us that just under a half of British people stated in a 

British Social Attitudes survey conducted in 2015 that they do not believe in God: so 

their belief about God is that a God does not exist. This non-religious life stance may 

be shared by many pupils, so it needs to be responded to and explored with respect 

and understanding. 

Bullet point 11  Many children may believe from their studies that God is love, and 

love for human beings is undoubtedly believed to be a very important feature in 

God’s make-up. Humanists certainly believe in love: it is one of the many qualities  

that help people lead a good and worthwhile life. For Humanists these include 

respect for others based on belief in everyone’s value, potential for good and ability 

to care for others. These values are very similar to those in most religions, and this 

is a good starting point for appreciating the common ground and connecting. Many 

religious people follow Humanist principles in their daily lives. 

Humanists have different levels of disbelief in God. Those who don’t believe in a god 

are called ‘atheists’, a term from the Greek language which means ‘no god’. Some 

atheists are absolutely certain there is no god, others not quite so sure. Many 

Humanists say that they cannot prove that a God exists or not, and are called 

‘agnostics’, another term from Greek which means ‘no certain knowledge’. But 

Humanists generally live their lives as if there is no God. 

The reason why Humanists cannot believe in a God is because they cannot accept 

explanations about anything unless it is proved to be true from a solid evidence 

base. This is similar to the proof for explanations that scientists demand. The fact 

that billions of people do believe in God doesn’t give Humanists that kind of proof. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s resource for teachers ‘Understanding Humanism’  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism provides  

a Humanist perspective on belief in god, atheism and agnosticism. There are many 

interesting activities such as the belief in god scale described below, ‘the invisible 

pencil-eating monster’, an invisible gardener, and a discussion of whether the 

existence of a god is still possible however much we find we know. 

Page 12

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism


7 
 

There is also a short film, an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘How can I 

know what is true?’ 

 

 When using the ‘belief in god scale’  children actively place themselves on a 

scale of probabilities about their belief in God. It has seven numbered points 

running from (1) theism (absolute certainty there is a God) to (7) atheism 

(absolute certainty there is no God), with different degrees of uncertainty (or 

agnosticism) in between.  

The children can put up their hands as you call out the numbers, or you might 

organise this as a ‘mobile debate’. Here one side of the classroom is labelled 

‘theist’ and the other ‘atheist’, and children position themselves where they 

think they belong in a line across the classroom. Or they could line up under 

numbers along one of the classroom walls.  

 

 You might then give some reasons for belief and disbelief and ask children to 

change their positions (or not) as a result in each case. But care must be 

taken to respect pupils who wish to keep their belief as a private matter. 

 

 

 A good starting point for exploration of love would be the Humanist ‘Golden 

Rule’. This rule is based on our human capacity to love, care and feel respect 

for other human beings, and is found in all the world faiths and belief 

systems. It is in two parts: 

 

 treat others as you would like them to treat you 

 don’t treat others in ways neither you nor they would like to be 

treated. 

        You could ask the children to discuss what values and beliefs about other     

        people lie behind this Rule. 

 

The British Humanist Association’s teaching resources in ‘Understanding Humanism’  

provide information and suggestions for activities relating to the Golden Rule and 

ethics generally. These include several short videos and these can be found at: 

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/.  ‘What is the Golden Rule?’ 

gives a statement of the  Golden Rule and many examples of it worldwide together 

with a map (see activity suggestion below).There is also, from ‘Humanism4schools’, 

a short video statement of the Rule by the children’s writer Philip Pullman entitled 

‘Humanism and the Golden Rule’. 

 

There are discussion topics such as ranking a number of rules, a dilemma about 

Page 13

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/


8 
 

whether to tell a lie where the truth might cause harm, and an example of well-

meaning misuse of the Golden Rule. There are also many interesting and challenging 

activities about moral dilemmas when applying the Golden Rule in everyday life, 

such as road or rail accidents where you can decide the number of people who will 

be hurt, seeing someone stealing money but in a good cause, and whistle-blowing. 

 

Referenced in this section of the resource are short videos in ‘Humanism4schools’ 

Two feature the children’s writer Philip Pullman: in ‘The importance of human 

nature’, he talks about the importance of our conscience as part of our nature, and 

fair and unfair behaviour; and in ‘What do we mean by behaving well?’ he describes 

the reasons for the good behaviour of one of the characters in ‘Northern Lights’, the 

first in his series of books ‘His dark materials’. In another video in this series ‘How do 

Humanists decide what is right and wrong?, several Humanists give their personal 

views. There is also an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What makes 

something right or wrong?’.        

 

 

 

 A very relevant activity for this Unit would be to ask children to look at the world 

faiths they have studied (Christianity and either Judaism or Islam) and find:  

 examples in the faith that reflect the Golden Rule, eg. the Good 

Samaritan) 

 statements in the faith that are other ways of expressing it, eg.  

 

Christianity  ‘In everything, do to others as 
you would have them do to you’ 
(Matthew 7.12) 

Judaism  ‘What is hateful to you do not do 
to your neighbour’ (Third Talmud 
Shabbat Ma) 

Islam  ‘Not one of you truly believes 
until you wish for others what you 
wish for yourself’ (Hadith). 

 

 

 This activity could lead to group work focusing on what people of both faiths 

being studied believe about God and what God values, and how non-religious 

people share these values. The Golden Rule is universal, and so are the values 

associated with it. 

 

 

Page 14



9 
 

KEY QUESTION L2.3:  WHY IS JESUS INSPIRING TO SOME PEOPLE? 

Many Humanists recognise that Jesus was an inspiring teacher, with a lasting 

influence over billions of people for nearly 2000 years – probably including some 

children in the class. His influence is part of our culture generally, and for non-

religious people to acknowledge this is part of nurturing mutual respect. The view of  

most humanists is that Jesus, if he existed, did the good things he did because he 

was a good human being, not because he was the son of god. They do not believe 

that Jesus was perfect, but do admire him. 

 

So for Humanists an important benefit from studying this question is to realise that 

we don’t have to be religious to be inspired – or to be inspiring. So when starting by 

considering how and why a person can inspire others by their ideas and actions 

(bullet point 1), it is valuable to have examples from the secular world provided by 

the children, perhaps from those they admire in their family life or local area. You 

might add people devoting their lives to serving or inspiring others for non-religious 

reasons: like Nelson Mandela in South Africa working to achieve justice for black 

people treated as inferior to white people under apartheid; Annie Besant in England 

working for justice for women working in match factories; Marie Curie in France 

doing dangerous research to cure illness; or Sir David Attenborough raising 

awareness of the needs of other species and the natural world. Discussing inspiring 

values and attitudes (bullet point 7) can therefore draw on a range of good 

examples, both religious and non-religious, that influence us all.  

Inspiration also needs courage, because many people working for justice and human 

needs often challenge those with power – as Jesus did. Many have suffered and 

even died for their non-religious beliefs, and some are still persecuted at the present 

time. Humanists support the work of organisations like Amnesty International. 

 

(Studying inspiration in religion has wider political implications which it will clearly 

not be appropriate to spell out for Lower Key Stage 2 children. But it may well later 

on help them to understand the powerful appeal of political leaders, whether malign 

like Lenin, Mao Ze Dong and Hitler, or humane like Nehru or Mandela.) 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 You could ask the children in groups what they think makes an inspiring 

teacher or Head teacher. This could be sharing enthusiasm for discovering 

Page 15



10 
 

things and making learning interesting, treating them well and respecting 

them, and giving them support and encouragement when they face problems.  

 

 Discussion of the children’s ideas of what inspires them could lead to 

exploration  of what makes a role model, including standing up for what you 

believe in, and leading by example.  

 

 The children could find some examples of inspiring non-religious people from 

the past or the present and make a display from newspapers and magazines.  

 

 A Humanist perspective to discussion with your children about ways in which 

they follow any of the inspiring examples of Jesus in their daily lives (bullet 

point 7) would be to ask them whether they think that Jesus acted in 

humanist ways! 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



11 
 

KEY QUESTION U2.1: WHY DO SOME PEOPLE BELIEVE GOD EXISTS? 

Bullet Point 1. Finding out that many people in Britain (48% in the most recent 

survey by British Social Attitudes, 2015) are not religious and do not believe in a 

supernatural being is a reassuring start for non-religious children to this important 

Unit. Including definitions of agnosticism and atheism gives status to their beliefs 

and feelings.   

Bullet point 3 gives three reasons each for belief and disbelief, as well as family 

life and upbringing which can lead to both outcomes. The arguments on both sides 

need to be set out: 

 religious experience can indeed inspire belief, but it can also lead to 

rejection: for Humanists someone’s belief is not in itself evidence for the 

existence of God. 

 

 the existence of terrible suffering, especially by the innocent, is at odds 

with belief in the loving nature of God. This needs religious justification, 

especially as some of the suffering is caused by conflicts between different 

faiths and their sects, each claiming absolute truth for their doctrines. 

 

 the question of creation needs a reference to alternative scientific 

explanations that non-religious people feel makes God unnecessary. This 

applies both to the universe (the ‘big bang’ theory) and life on earth 

(chemical interactions at the very beginning, and evolution from then on).   

There are several more arguments that should be considered on both sides for full 

exploration, eg:  

     many people like the certainty that religious truths provide, especially at     

    times when there are many dangers and problems in the world.  

 

     Humanists distrust explanations that claim to be absolutely true; they feel  

    these are too simple and prefer to live with uncertainty. 

 

    religion gives believers hope of eternal reward in Heaven for their good life   

   on earth. This gives their lives purpose and meaning. The non-religious do    

   not believe in an afterlife, and Humanists feel that if this is our only life it is  

   a very good reason for living it as well as we can for the benefit of others.    

   Humanists feel that this gives their lives equal purpose and meaning to  

   those of religious believers. 

Bullet point 5 rightly calls for invitations to both religious and non-religious visitors 

to answer questions on belief or disbelief. 

Page 17



12 
 

Bullet point 6 raises the question of the nature of British society today. Many 

traditional values like fairness and equal treatment for the less successful, and 

tolerance of different beliefs and customs, seem to be threatened by the growth of 

hatreds based on fear and dislike, and this challenges us all. Religious and non-

religious people have responsibility to handle the challenge created by our rich 

diversity of beliefs. This is a demanding undertaking! 

For pupils aged 9-11, the exploration of simple reasons for the beliefs people hold is 

a kind of first step in philosophical understanding. Teachers will, of course, make 

this work age–appropriate for their classes when drawing on material from this 

section. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s resource for teachers ‘Understanding Humanism’  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism provides  

a Humanist perspective on belief in god, atheism and agnosticism. There are many 

interesting activities such as the belief in god scale described below, ‘the invisible 

pencil-eating monster’, an invisible gardener, and a discussion of whether the 

existence of a god is still possible however much we find we know. 

There is also a short film, an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘How can I 

know what is true?’ 

 

 If you choose the ‘belief in god scale’, here children actively place themselves on 

a scale of probabilities about their belief in God. It has seven numbered points 

running from (1) theism (absolute certainty there is a God) to (7) atheism 

(absolute certainty there is no God), with different degrees of uncertainty (or 

agnosticism) in between.  

 

 The children can put up their hands as you call out the numbers, or you might 

organise this as a ‘mobile debate’. Here one side of the classroom is labelled 

‘theist’ and the other ‘atheist’, and children position themselves where they think 

they belong in a line across the classroom. Or they could line up under numbers 

along one of the classroom walls.  

 

 You might then give some reasons for belief and disbelief and ask children to 

change their positions (or not) as a result in each case. But care must be taken 

to respect pupils who wish to keep their belief as a private matter. 

 

 

Page 18

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism


13 
 

 Discussion of these points could include ranking exercises or making a ‘reasons 

for religion’ pie, with groups dividing up their pie into slices to show which 

reasons they think are most convincing. There could also be a ‘reasons for 

disbelief’ pie. 

 

 Children will be fascinated by the story of Charles Darwin and his voyage on 

the ‘Beagle’. They will be able to understand the significance of the 

differences Darwin observed between the different shapes of the shells of 

tortoises and beaks of finches on separate islands in the Galapagos, and his 

conclusion that these are evidence that each variety of the species had 

evolved to survive in their contrasting environments. Children can see how 

this can be true for human beings as well – and how it led to arguments 

about the truth of the account of creation in Genesis, as in Oxford in 1860. 

 

 You could follow this story up with a discussion. Ask the class to agree on as 

     many points as they can that convinced Darwin that life evolved. Then put    

     yourself in a ‘hot seat’, raising some objections for the class to argue against. 

     (This exercise would introduce young people to the debate that took place in 

     1860, and show them the strong feelings caused by the idea that life evolved 

     rather than being created. But it would avoid the danger of creating doubt  

     about evolution, because you would explain that the process of evolution has 

     since been shown to work in countless ways, and never been disproved.)  

 

 This activity would also be a good opportunity for you to assess the children’s 

level of understanding. This activity has good links with the debating skills in 

the English curriculum. 

 

 Group work and discussion might well focus on suffering, perhaps asking the 

children to list reasons for suffering and if God exists why s/he allows it to 

happen. 

 

 The strategy ‘silent discussion’ is often powerful in drawing out pupils’ 

insights. Images of suffering on large paper sheets are placed on tables. 

Pupils write – but do not speak – the points they want to make, responding to 

each other with questions and reasons. 

 

 Other relevant  discussion points might be:  

 whether including a belief in a holy book makes it true 

 whether it is easy for religious people to change their minds on issues 

and beliefs 

 whether it would be fair to be punished in an afterlife because you 

don’t believe in God in this one. 

Page 19



14 
 

KEY QUESTION U2.3:  WHAT DO RELIGIONS SAY TO US WHEN LIFE GETS 

HARD? 

This Unit should be one of the most relevant in the syllabus for non-religious 

children, since they have to respond to hard times as well as those with faith. But  

this Unit will only be relevant to them if they can study what a non-religious belief 

system says as well. The Unit provides several important opportunities. 

Bullet points 1 and 2 will draw plenty of questions from the children about the ‘big 

questions’ in life. Many of these questions will be from the non-religious children, 

and all the different answers need to be valued – especially the understanding that 

there are no easy answers. A sceptical, questioning approach is a key feature of 

Humanism.  

Bullet point 3 raises the question for the non-religious of what help they have in 

tough times. For Humanists as individuals, understanding the often natural causes of 

hardships is important in coping with them. Beyond that, Humanism encourages us 

to develop a set of purposes in life, and gives guidance in working out what is the 

right thing to do in difficult circumstances. Understanding the often natural causes of 

hardships is important in coping with them.  

Humanism believes this world can be made a better place to promote happiness and 

well-being and remove misery, rather than relying on Mr Micawber’s hope that 

‘something will turn up’, or the belief that God will provide and therefore the need to  

accept one’s fate if s/he doesn’t. Living and acting in this way helps give meaning to 

life. 

When tough times happen to others we know and care about, we should support 

them as well as we can. Humanism is shown in the actions of the millions of ordinary 

non-religious people who care for those with disabilities or the aged (who are often 

elderly relatives or neighbours). Although the wider community is not as strong a 

unit as a religious community, there are groups of people in similar situations or with 

specialist knowledge that can support and be contacted through the internet or 

social media for those with access to it. For many humanists, the absence of a god 

or gods or an afterlife, makes it even more important that we do all we can to 

alleviate pain and suffering in this life for everyone. 

Bullet points 4 and 5 require study of the reasons for and implications of the non-

religious belief that there is no afterlife: Humanism is suggested as an example. As 

all non-religious people, Humanists do not believe in the existence of a supernatural 

world, so we have just this one life; this means that we should live our lives as well 

as we possibly can for ourselves and others. It encourages us to develop purposes in 

life that strengthen us in times of difficulty and hardship. Humanists also know that 

Page 20



15 
 

we will live on in the sense that our DNA contributes to another human life, and that 

the example of our way of living may have a lasting influence.  

So Humanist funeral ceremonies should be included under this bullet point. These 

celebrate the life, achievements and lasting influence of the one who has died. They 

are conducted by trained officiants, without reference to any afterlife in the form of 

hymns, prayers or readings from holy books that would feel inappropriate to those 

without faith. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association provides some very useful information and 

suggestions for activities in its teachers’ resource  ‘Understanding Humanism’ at:  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/meaning-and-happiness/.  

This resource provides examples of ingredients of happiness in visual form, and asks 

children and students to rank them according to various criteria, and create a recipe 

for happiness using their own list of ingredients. There are activities relating to the 

‘Happy Human’ logo of the Humanist Association, and the ‘Why’ game explores 

reasons for happiness and explores these in greater detail. An animation narrated by 

Stephen Fry provides a Humanist response to the question ‘How can I be happy?’ 

The resource provides examples of ingredients of a good life in visual form with 

appropriate activities for children and students, and a similar approach to 15 

quotations about finding meaning in life. Students are challenged to provide 

Humanist responses to three questions about whether there is any meaning in life, 

and then to respond to a number of criticisms of Humanist views of meaning. A final 

activity, ‘What is the good life?’, asks students to write a letter to their future selves 

detailing ways they feel their life has been meaningful. 

 

 

The British Humanist Association’s teachers’ resource also provides information and 

activities relating to the Humanist view that there is no afterlife, to be found at:  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/. Relevant items 

include a video where Humanists give their views on ‘Is this the only life we have?’;  

slides on euthanasia presenting four case studies and asking students to decide 

whether it is acceptable or unacceptable; and an animated sketch narrated by 

Stephen Fry ‘What should we think about death?’ 

 

 Group discussions could include:  

 

 whether a Humanist approach and support from within the non-

religious community gives adequate support in times of times of loss, 

Page 21

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/meaning-and-happiness/
http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/


16 
 

bereavement, onset of ill-health, loss of employment or natural 

disasters. 

 

 whether we should do all we can to solve problems, or accept them as 

part of God’s purpose. 

 

 whether we should accept things that are wrong in this world in the 

hope of a better life in a world to come. 

 

 how we could know if there is any form of life beyond the grave, or 

whether anything would count as evidence for or against the idea of an 

afterlife. 

  

 

 Group work could design a non-religious funeral ceremony. This would  

include: 

  

 where it might take place 

 what would replace hymns, scriptural readings and prayers; 

 what the trained Humanist celebrant would say after discussion with 

the family of the deceased 

 any symbols relating to his or her life and enjoyments that might be 

placed on the coffin.  

 

Groups could then discuss similarities with and differences from a religious 

funeral. One group might volunteer to enact the ceremony to experience the 

mixture of sadness and joy that participants might feel. 

 

The British Humanist Association provides resources on Humanist funerals at 

its website ‘Understanding Humanism’ in the theme which can be found at:   

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/.This provides  

a 12 minute film of a Humanist funeral with interviews with the celebrant and 

relatives, and a discussion between young people on their own beliefs about 

death. Also provided are examples of comments by Humanist celebrants, 

appropriate poems, and a response sheet to questions about death. 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/


17 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.1:  DO WE NEED TO PROVE GOD’S EXISTENCE? 

For Humanists the answer to this important question is ‘yes’. Religious believers 

claim that the existence of God provides the answer to how and why the universe 

and life were created, what meaning and purpose there is to life and how we should 

live our lives. Humanists and non-religious people have other answers, but if it can 

be proved that God exists then these answers must fail. So, for Humanists, religions 

have to prove that God exists.  

But Humanists do not think that the existence of God can be proved to their 

satisfaction. Nothing can be conclusively proved, but Humanists choose to believe 

only what has a solid evidence base. The kind of proof that non-religious people 

need for the existence of God or any explanation about life is scientific, using the 

‘scientific method’ that has shaped our understanding of the world and enabled us to 

transform it.  

Religious belief cannot be tested in this way because it is a matter of faith. The fact 

that billions of people do have certain belief in the existence of God is not in itself 

proof for anyone else that their belief is correct. It is not the kind of proof that 

Humanists require. 

However, science cannot prove conclusively that there is no God! The mathematics 

of the ‘Big Bang’ leaves the question of where the potential energy for the Universe 

came from. Similarly, although we can explain how life has evolved and guess that it 

emerged from chemical interactions, this takes us back to the ‘Big Bang’. Some 

things science cannot yet explain, which is why ‘agnostic’ Humanists like to keep an 

‘open mind’ – and why some scientists are religious. For many humanists, the 

absence of a complete scientific natural explanation is no reason to invoke a 

supernatural one. 

Bullet point 1 raises the significant point that pathways of belief can change in life. 

One such change is a loss of faith, and the Humanist view is that this does not mean 

that a person is no longer good, or even less good, as a result. All Humanist visitors 

to schools make it clear that they respect children’s faith as a guide to being good: 

but if they don’t have it, or lose it, they can still be as good as anyone else. 

Bullet point 2 explores Aquinas’ rational arguments for God’s existence. The 

Humanist view is that you cannot prove God’s existence this way: faith is central to 

religion and you cannot argue it into existence. Many religious people also feel the 

‘rational’ arguments for a god’s existence fail. 

Bullet point 5 is the central reason for Humanist disbelief in God. As explained 

above, Humanists do need a scientific kind of proof for any belief or explanation, 

and so far as they are concerned there is no satisfactory or conclusive proof for the 

Page 23



18 
 

existence of God. Religion depends on faith not evidence, and this makes a 

fundamental difference between the belief system of Humanism and any religious 

faith.  

Bullet point 6 makes the very important point for Humanists and the non-religious 

that the Buddhist philosophy, particularly the original Theravada tradition, sees no 

need for a God. The concern of Buddhists is what happens on this earth, especially 

suffering. Therefore many Humanists do not see Buddhism as a faith, and share 

many Buddhist attitudes and values, without practising them so rigorously. 

Bullet point 7 recognises the fact that some Humanists recognise that religion can 

help people lead good lives, even if it can also make some people perform actions 

that are cruel and unkind. This is the position of the British Humanist Association 

which represents the great majority of Humanists. It is an agnostic position that they 

cannot speak with absolute certainty on God’s existence, but because it has not 

been proved (and they do not believe that it can be proved) they live as if there is 

no God. But we all need values, and values do not depend on the existence of God. 

So the Association believes it is important that children and young people with no 

religions also have the opportunity to learn reasons to be good to others as they 

shape their own values. Therefore the Association trains Humanist speakers to visit 

schools when invited and make the case in RE lessons that we can be good without 

God.  

For many Humanists the need that many people feel for religious guidance is the 

assurance that is provided by either a number of commandments or a full code for 

living clearly laid down. Religion gives a sense of certainty, a purpose and meaning 

for life, with the promise of powerful support. Humanists and the non-religious have 

to use their intelligence to make their own meaning of life, but do find their own 

purposes and sources of strength in achieving them.    

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s resource for teachers ‘Understanding Humanism’  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism provides  

a Humanist perspective on belief in god, atheism and agnosticism. There are many 

interesting activities such as the belief in god scale described below, ‘the invisible 

pencil-eating monster’, an invisible gardener, and a discussion of whether the 

existence of a god is still possible however much we find we know. 

There is also a short film, an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘How can I 

know what is true?’ 

 

Page 24

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism


19 
 

 When using the ‘belief in god scale’  children actively place themselves on a 

scale of probabilities about their belief in God. This scale has seven numbered 

points running from (1) theism (absolute certainty there is a God) to (7)4 

atheism (absolute certainty there is no God), with different degrees of 

uncertainty (or agnosticism) in between.  

 

The children can put up their hands as you call out the numbers, or you might 

organise this as a ‘mobile debate’. Here one side of the classroom is labelled 

‘theist’ and the other ‘atheist’, and children position themselves where they 

think they belong in a line across the classroom. Or they could line up under 

numbers along one of the classroom walls.  

 

You might then give some reasons for belief and disbelief and ask children to 

change their positions (or not) as a result in each case. But care must be 

taken to respect pupils who wish to keep their belief as a private matter. 

 

 Discussion of these points could include ranking exercises assessing reasons 

for belief or disbelief as either good, not so good, not very good, or poor. This 

helps your assessment of students’ stages of understanding.  

 

 A different approach might be to make a ‘reasons for religion’ pie, with groups 

dividing up their pie into slices to show which reasons they think are most 

convincing. There could also be a ‘reasons for disbelief’ pie.  

 

This Unit could include some very interesting work on science and religion:  

 There is a thought-provoking  activity about evidence for beliefs in general 

that Humanist speakers use in schools and your students might find 

interesting: 

 

 you give the students in groups a set of cards which each has a belief, 

such as the earth moves around the sun, ghosts  exist, penguins live in 

Antarctica, 2+2=4, there is an afterlife, and sugar is bad for your teeth 

 

 then give them other cards each with evidence to hold that belief, such 

as I read it in a book, lots of people believe it, my parents told me it 

was true,  I want it to be true, I did an experiment to check it, and I 

thought carefully about it. 

 

 ask students in pairs to pick a belief card and an evidence card. Is that 

evidence good enough for that belief? If not, try another card and so 

Page 25



20 
 

on. Is each bit of evidence good enough, first for a theist and then a 

Humanist? 

 

  

 This activity explores where beliefs of any kind come from, and how 

much we can believe in them. It gives students a taste of applying a 

scientific and Humanist method to testing opinions as well as beliefs. It 

matches the concern to enable students to distinguish ‘evidence’ which 

must be taken into account in argument, from ‘proof’ which is widely 

agreed to be unavailable on this key question. 

 

 Other activities on science and religion might include: 

 

 investigating the life and thinking of Galileo who proved that the 

planets go round the sun by telescopic observation, and of Charles 

Darwin who provided rigorous and persuasive evidence that life on 

earth has evolved rather than been created at one point in time. Both 

Galileo and Darwin raised issues that challenged religious beliefs. Both 

men by their scientific work raised the possibility that God’s existence 

might have to be proved. 

 

 exploring differences between the scientific explanation of creation and 

the creation myths of various religions. 

 

 finding out how the theory of Intelligent Design (that God planned the 

process of evolution and set it all going) challenges the idea of 

evolution without God, and how Humanists can answer this. 

 

 Group discussions could include: 

 

 whether keeping an open mind – feeling doubt and uncertainty – is a 

strength or a weakness. 

 

 whether scientists change their views, and why. 

 

 whether religion has to be in conflict with science, drawing on 

examples of the views of different faiths. 

 

 

Page 26



21 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.3:  WHAT IS SO RADICAL ABOUT JESUS? 

Bullet point 8 reminds us that during his lifetime Jesus was a rebel, a radical critic 

of the religious leaders of his own society. His anger at the hypocrisy of the money-

changers in the temple is just one example of this.  

The radical nature of Jesus’s teaching lay in his criticism of the vengeful images of 

God current in his day, summarised perhaps in the phrase ‘an eye for an eye and a 

tooth for a tooth’. In contrast, Jesus advocated genuine forgiveness of enemies and 

compassion for the oppressed and unfortunate. These were original ethics for his 

time, most demandingly expressed in the influential Sermon on the Mount. For 

Humanists this is one of the great embodiments of their key guides to living: the 

Golden Rule (treat others as you would want them to treat you, and not in ways that 

neither you nor they would want to be treated), and the avoidance of harm. 

However, we should note that Jesus was not the only, nor the first, to advocate the 

Golden Rule. 

As Jesus gained supporters and followers, drawn by his teaching, his parables and 

his reputation for performing miracles, he became more and more of a threat to the 

authority of the religious leaders. So Humanist teaching of this Unit would emphasise 

the political as well as the moral context. Jesus was also feared by the Roman rulers 

of Palestine, the chief of whom was Pontius Pilate, as a potential cause of unrest.  

In many ways there are parallels with Martin Luther’s criticisms of the Catholic 

Church 1500 years later in Germany, Baruch Spinoza’s criticisms of Orthodox 

Judaism a century after that, and Mahatma Gandhi’s denunciations of the British rule 

in India. Luther created a new Church, Spinoza a reform movement in Judaism, and 

Gandhi’s campaigns led to the collapse of British rule: these outcomes show why the 

religious leaders in Jesus’ day rightly feared him as a dangerous heretic. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 research and group work could include exploring similarities and differences in 

the situations of Jesus and other critics of religious establishments like Martin 

Luther and Baruch Spinoza. 

 the class could discuss in groups what a radical Jesus would criticise in 

modern society. Would he agree with some of the criticisms made by the 

Church of England about poverty amid plenty, and would he feel these were 

sufficient? (You might need to provide some evidence and facts to feed 

debate here.) 

 

Page 27



22 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.4:  IS DEATH THE END? DOES IT MATTER? 

For Humanists death on this earth is the final end to life. They do not think that they 

have souls, so there is nothing left when they die except their bodies. They do not 

think that there is anything to be reincarnated in this world, nor is there any 

supernatural world to go to. But this does not matter to Humanists: it’s just a fact, 

with no evidence to them that disproves it. Many are not at all depressed by this 

situation. 

Bullet point 5 The belief that there is no afterlife may even encourage Humanists 

to live their lives better, because if this is their only life that makes it even more 

precious, and gives them even more reason to live it as well as they can. What this 

means is creating as much happiness as they can for themselves and others, living a 

worthwhile life so that when they come to die they can feel that they have spent 

their time here well. This is the incentive for non-religious people to live a good life 

on earth.  

Humanists also feel that although there is no eternal afterlife, we do all live on for 

some time in some ways, even if we don’t know about it. If we have children, our 

genes live on in them.  If we have lived a good life and made some people happy, or 

inspired them, or even amused them, they may remember us. Some of us may 

make a permanent difference to many people through things we have done or 

written. Here is another incentive to live our one life well. 

Bullet point 8 raises the issues of meaning and purpose in life. Like most human 

beings, Humanists try to find some answer to these ‘ultimate’ questions. They have 

no agreed answer to what life means and what it is for, but they do agree that the 

answers can only be found in this life and this world. Humanists are ready to learn 

from the answers that others have given, but believe that we each have to do this 

for ourselves in our own situation and respond in our own special way. 

For some Humanists meaning can be defined as using our reason to make sense of 

what is happening and why, and purpose as using our powers of compassion to help 

in our own way to promote happiness and well-being, both now and in the future. 

For all Humanists there are many meanings and purposes to life, and it is our 

responsibility to come to our own understanding of what fits for us, and to make our 

lives as meaningful and purposeful as we can. 

Humanists feel critical about the religious idea noted in this bullet point that it is the 

existence of an afterlife and a judgement day when one’s eternal future is decided 

that motivates people to live a good earthly life. Humanists feel that this is a bit 

selfish, even if totally understandable. Humanists prefer to live a good life because 

of the benefit it brings to other human beings, and see no need for external 

sanctions.  

Page 28



23 
 

Bullet point 6 So the view of most Humanists on the question about the nature of 

life is fairly obvious. Life is neither suffering (though it may contain it) nor an ordeal 

with a judgement day in view. These seem like a definition of hell on earth! For 

Humanists life is indeed a chance to achieve one’s goals and hopes, but it is much 

more than this: it is a chance to live a life that is beneficial and valuable to everyone 

we affect. This may not achieve heaven on earth, but living this way helps make the 

world a better place. 

One thing that most Humanists do strongly believe in, which is not mentioned in this 

Unit, is that human beings should be treated with the same dignity as they seek for 

themselves and others in life. Most Humanists therefore support the legalisation of 

voluntary euthanasia, the right to die at a time of one’s own choosing in the case of 

terminal illness or decline. This is a topic normally covered in Key Stage 4, but it is 

surely a relevant consideration when thinking about the circumstances of death, and 

sensitive teaching would of course take any personal circumstances into account. 

Most Humanists believe that no one should be forced by medical intervention to live 

with terminal illness or conditions like dementia or illnesses that make people less 

than the human beings they were. Caring relatives should not face prosecution if 

they give assistance. Most Humanists see voluntary euthanasia as a human right, 

but some religious believers oppose it because they think that life is sacred: given by 

God, only God can take it away. Humanists think this condemns people to 

unnecessary suffering and unhappiness. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

The British Humanist Association provides teaching resources on the topic of 

Humanist funerals at its website ‘Understanding Humanism’ which can be found at:  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/. This provides a 12 

minute film of a Humanist funeral with interviews with the celebrant and relatives, 

and a discussion between young people on their own beliefs about death. Also 

provided are examples of comments by Humanist celebrants, appropriate poems, 

and a response sheet to questions about death. 

The resoures include a video where Humanists give their views on ‘Is this the only 

life we have?; slides on euthanasia presenting four case studies and asking students 

to decide whether it is acceptable or unacceptable; and an animated sketch narrated 

by Stephen Fry ‘What should we think about death?’ 

There is a 12 minute film of a Humanist funeral, with interviews with the celebrant 

and relatives, and a discussion between young people on their own beliefs about 

death. Also provided are examples of comments by Humanist celebrants, 

appropriate poems, and a response sheet to questions about death. 

Page 29

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/


24 
 

 

 

 students in groups could design a Humanist secular funeral service. This 

would include where it might be held, what would replace hymns and 

readings from a holy book, and what would replace the prayers expressing 

hopes for eternal life.  Each group could choose appropriate secular music, 

songs and readings (bullet point 2). The BHA trains celebrants who work with 

families to provide a secular celebration of a deceased’s life. A local trained 

Humanist celebrant would be very happy to share experiences with students. 

 

 Student groups could discuss what the Humanist symbol the ‘Happy Human’ 

implies in terms of what Humanists might aspire towards, and whether these 

aspirations might provide useful purposes for life. 

 

 Groups could compare examples from newspaper articles about people today 

who have purposes in their lives: groups could choose which they admire 

most. 

 

 Groups could list things that make life meaningful (eg friendship, helping 

others, being good, seeking knowledge, enjoying beauty) and ranking these 

in order of importance. 

 

 students could discuss:  

 

 whether people can be happy when they know there is no future 

after death - whether this is terrifying or liberating 

 

 what incentives non-religious people have to live a good earthly life if 

there is no punishment or reward after death 

 

 whether we need sanctions to behave well 

 

 whether the quality of life towards its end is more important than 

sanctity of life 

 

 which arguments on the topic of voluntary euthanasia in the resource 

‘Understanding Humanism’ are acceptable to Humanists and which 

are not – and why. 

 

 whether euthanasia with safeguards should be legally available, and 

what those safeguards should be. 

Page 30



25 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.5:  WHY IS THERE SUFFERING? ARE THERE ANY GOOD 

SOLUTIONS? 

Bullet point 4  identifies the key issue for Humanists when they reflect on the first 

question in the title of this Unit. It is a real challenge for us all, but especially for  

religious believers: if God is good and merciful, why does s/he allow and indeed 

condone suffering, especially by innocent people in times of conflict - and often over 

religious issues? This contradiction is perhaps the most important reason why many 

people reject religion. 

Humanists share this feeling, but go further; they are not convinced by religious 

attempts to explain this contradiction. For some religious believers, suffering is seen 

as a test of faith to be rewarded in the afterlife. Humanists think that this religious 

explanation for suffering encourages an acceptance of suffering in this world, and is 

neither adequate nor convincing. 

Humanists see that much suffering is man-made, and therefore we should do all we 

can to reduce it in order to increase human well-being, happiness and contentment. 

But there is a philosophical problem here for Humanists. If there is no God and there 

is so much suffering as a result of human behaviour, what does this tell us about 

human beings and their potential for good or evil? Does this suggest that Humanists 

have an over-optimistic view of human nature and potential? 

 

The Humanist explanation of suffering is rational and based on evidence. Clearly  

some suffering has ‘natural’ causes – illness for individuals and natural calamities like 

floods, tsunamis, fires, volcanic eruptions and droughts for entire populations. There 

are good solutions here because science can explain and increasingly predict these 

events: we can and do act to protect people from them. 

But Humanists recognise that much suffering is caused by human attitudes and 

behaviour toward others. Most Humanists will admit that we have as much capacity 

to dislike others as to like them, and this can easily become intolerance and hatred; 

this is often of groups of other people who are different in visible ways like skin 

colour, physical ability or behaviour. Also, sadly, religious differences have been 

causes of terrible conflicts and suffering because of the fervour of many who believe 

that their faith is the only truth. But for Humanists all of this is a human 

responsibility. 

Bullet points 5, 6 and 7 identify an interesting comparison between Humanism 

and Buddhism.  An important cause of suffering is selfishness in the form of greed 

and ambition for power and privileges. These selfish drives cause suffering because 

they lead to great inequality, which creates and increases poverty, unhappiness and 

Page 31



26 
 

discontent in every society and every part of the world (bullet point 1). Both 

Humanism and Buddhism see ‘discontentment’ resulting from craving for material 

possessions and power as a source of suffering. Buddhists feel that it is an individual 

responsibility to overcome this craving, and then suffering will cease. Almost all 

Humanists would agree that we must all try to keep the search for material 

possessions in perspective, but most Humanists are more concerned about the 

impact of the inequalities that result from this on the everyday life of the great 

majority, who just want the chance of basic well-being and a decent, comfortable 

life.  The priority for Humanists is to contribute to bringing about that improvement. 

So these two belief systems have very different views of the solutions to suffering. 

Preventing or reducing suffering is central to Humanism. The Golden Rule means 

that we should avoid doing harm to other people, other species and to our planet 

because this damages happiness and well-being for us all. This is what is called 

‘Utilitarianism’, seeking what is useful and beneficial for us all. This thinking 

underlies the aim most Humanists share to create the greatest happiness of the 

greatest number, which involves reducing suffering.    

For some Humanists the responsibility to reduce suffering is extended to all living 

things. For the non-religious ethicist Peter Singer, the experience of suffering by all 

living things, our responsibility as humans for much of this suffering, and our 

responsibility to reduce it are the heart of morality. inspired to be good by his hatred 

of suffering by any living  creature that may feel pain, Singer feels that we cannot be 

truly happy while suffering exists. He argues that human beings have a moral 

responsibility for any sufferings we cause, including the sufferings of those we could 

help but don’t. Peter Singer has a charitable foundation driven by the Humanist 

principle of seeking good consequences by effective action to make the world a 

better place. This thinking, and the action that flows from it, is the Golden Rule in 

action, in its most demanding form. 

 

So almost all Humanists believe strongly that we should work to challenge 

discrimination wherever it appears because of the suffering it causes. This is why 

Humanists feel that human rights are so important. All human beings have rights as 

unique, thinking beings, who are equally important whatever the differences 

between them. These differences need to be understood and appreciated, even if 

we disagree with them, so long as they do not cause harm and suffering, in which 

case they must be challenged. So Humanists oppose expressions of hatred like 

Islamophobia, which falsely accuses British Muslim communities of fostering 

terrorism. Humanists hope for education that challenges the misunderstandings, 

prejudices and stereotypes that underlie all discrimination and the suffering it 

causes.  

Page 32



27 
 

Equally, poverty is a cause of suffering. Poor people can lead happy and fulfilling 

lives, but most do not choose to be poor. Poverty is the result of economic forces 

and human behaviour that are beyond the control of individuals, but can be 

changed. For Humanists poverty is not, as some religious and non-religious people 

believe, ordained because of individual failings,. The inequality and suffering it 

causes is not acceptable in a humane society.   

Bullet point 2 suggests  that suffering exists because of some ‘original sin’ for 

which we are all being punished, but Bullet point 3 notes that suffering may be 

because people do not help each other enough. Most Humanists feel a contradiction 

here, and strongly reject the notion that suffering is caused by some past sin. They 

feel that the causes of most suffering are within human nature, and that we have 

the potential to reduce it.  As part of meeting this challenge we should try to 

convince people of all faiths that promoting love and respect for others as expressed 

in the Golden Rule that they all share is the true purpose of religion. 

Humanists agree with Peter Singer that because human beings cause suffering and 

harm in so many ways, it is their responsibility to lessen it. But here there are no 

simple solutions. In our country we have made laws to reduce discrimination and 

expressions of hatred, and we might be able to reduce inequality. But dislike of 

people who are different is the hardest problem: we should try to convince people of 

all faiths and none that love and respect for others as expressed in the Golden Rule 

they all share is the true purpose of religion. Perhaps education about the human 

values shared by all religions is the most important way forward to reduce 

unnecessary conflict.  

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

 students could summarise a Humanist explanation of and response to 

suffering, or design a poster to make the Humanist case to reduce suffering. 

 

 students could discuss this quotation from David Attenborough: ‘I think of  a 

parasitic worm that is boring through the eye of a boy living in West Africa, a 

worm that’s going to make him blind. Are you telling me that the God you say 

is an all-merciful God, that cares for each of us individually, are you saying 

that God created this worm that can live in no other way than in an innocent 

child’s eyeball? Because that doesn’t seem to me to coincide with a God that’s 

full of mercy’. 

 

 students could compare the Buddhist and Humanist views on the causes and 

solutions for suffering, either in writing or by posters.  

 

Page 33



28 
 

 family role-play exercises on whether a mother should take a part-time, low 

paid, zero-hours job with no security or prospects in order to help out the 

family finances. You might act as ‘teacher in role’ and answer students’ 

questions. 

 

 students might discuss: 

 

 whether a loving and all-merciful God should allow suffering 

 

 the reasons why bad things happen to good people 

 

 whether suffering is of any value 

 

 whether laws should reduce inequality 

 

 how global warming is increasing human suffering, and how far 

humans are responsible  

 

 whether human beings have the potential to reduce and remove     

suffering 

 

 whether a caring God should have given us free will knowing we were     

 going to misuse it 

 

 whether religious belief encourages an acceptance of suffering in this 

world. 

 whether people are less likely to put up with suffering if they do not 

believe in an after-life 

 

 whether multi-faith education can prevent religious hatred. 

 

 New materials giving the Humanist perspective on the problems of evil and 

suffering will be available in the British Humanist Association’s resource 

‘Understanding Humanism’ at 

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism/. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/atheism-and-agnosticism/


29 
 

HUMANIST SUPPORT DOCUMENT FOR ‘RELIGIOUS LITERACY 

FOR ALL’ 

STRAND B: EXPRESSING 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Key Question 

KQ F3:      WHAT PLACES ARE SPECIAL AND WHY?                                           30    

KQ F4:       WHAT TIMES ARE SPECIAL AND WHY                                              32 

KQ 1.6:      HOW AND WHY DO WE CELEBRATE SPECIAL AND SACRED TIMES?    34 

KQ L2.5:    WHY ARE FESTIVALS IMPORTANT TO RELIGIOUS COMMUNITIES       36 

KQ L2.6:    WHY DO SOME PEOPLE THINK THAT LIFE IS A JOURNEY,                  38     

                 AND WHAT SIGNIFICANT EXPERIENCES MARK THIS?  

 

KQ U2.5:    IS IT BETTER TO EXPRESS YOUR RELIGION IN ARTS AND                 41                               

                 ARCHITECTURE OR IN CHARITY AND GENEROSITY? 

 

KQ 3.7:      HOW CAN PEOPLE EXPRESS THE SPIRITUAL THROUGH THE ARTS?    44 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



30 
 

KEY QUESTION F3: WHAT PLACES ARE SPECIAL AND WHY? 

Bullet point 1 Most special places which non-religious children associate with 

happy times will be secular. For almost all children these special places will be their 

own rooms or own space at home, or a quiet space at school. Additionally for the 

many who are lucky enough to travel around with their families, special places could 

include places of beauty at the seaside or in the countryside; funfairs and pleasure 

parks like Alton Towers; and quieter places like zoos, museums, nature sanctuaries 

and flower gardens’.  

Bullet point 2 For Humanists all these places have special value because of the 

emotional experiences they provide. A space to be oneself creates peace and quiet, 

time to reflect and perhaps to work through pain and anger; many special places 

familiar to children can bring feelings of relaxation or carefree exhilaration; other 

places allow them to relate to other species and enjoy nature (bullet point 3). These 

are all aspects of being human: they are spiritual experiences in a secular and in 

most cases natural environment. These experiences can be shared by all children. 

Children with religious faith have additional special places in their lives, but the 

Humanist message is that you don’t have to go to a special place of worship to have 

these experiences. 

Bullet point 4 Many schools with enough space create natural environments for 

their children to enjoy as well as play areas. Several schools in Greater Manchester 

have joined the Peace Mala organisation, and created Peace Gardens in their 

grounds which can be either peaceful natural environments or open spaces for quiet 

conversation and relaxation, with running water, stretches of sand, wooden tables 

and chairs, and Buddhist and Zen symbols.  

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

 Children could explore their feelings about their special places through 

colourful drawings and paintings, or simple poems about their special places. 

This would allow all children opportunities to show their feelings about their 

special places.  

 A Humanist approach after these activities would be to explain that a child’s 

own special place does not have to be religious, and then explore with them 

the similarities between the feelings created by natural or man-made special 

places with the feelings created by religious spaces (perhaps a shrine in the 

home of a religious family or their place of worship). 

 

 Inviting both religious and non-religious people to visit and talk about places 

special to them would enhance all children’s awareness of this ‘spiritual’ side 

Page 36



31 
 

of life. This might relate to the natural world, to relationships, or to the 

children’s inner lives. 

 

 Design a building that represents what is special and important to you. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



32 
 

KEY QUESTION F4:  WHAT TIMES ARE SPECIAL AND WHY? 

Bullet point 1 Both non-religious children and those with faith experience special 

times in their own lives. Some of these special times will be in their own special 

places, but many are times of celebration with others. These times include their own 

birthdays, then those of their brothers and sisters, and special events like births and 

weddings in their family, and perhaps Mother’s Day and Father’s Day. Then there 

are the festivals that they share with family, friends and the wider community like 

Christmas, Easter, Bonfire Night, Halloween and local carnivals and festivals. For 

Humanists a great value of these events is that the enjoyment spreads outwards 

from the individual to be shared with a wider community. Shared celebrations like 

‘Red Nose Day’ may also be a useful focus, with its emphasis on care and 

compassion. 

 

Bullet point 2 A really important point for non-religious children is that we can all 

share in exploring these special times and enjoy reminders of them. None of them 

are exclusive to religious children, even though they will have an extra dimension of 

importance for them. There are common elements such as feeling and being treated 

as special and important on your birthday; then being part of your own special 

family community with your own responsibilities to others at births and weddings; 

and then the common elements of family and community celebrations of festivals 

with family visits, presents, special meals and foods, treats like pantomimes, 

fireworks and Halloween costumes, and processions of decorated floats and 

performers.  

A Humanist reflection is that it is very sad that many festivals have become 

opportunities for consumerism and exploitation. This is capitalism rather than 

secularism. It often makes the festivals very stressful for parents when money is 

tight, and many children do become aware of this.   

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s resource pack ‘Understanding Humanism’  

provides information and suggestions for activities on humanist naming ceremonies 

at http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies/. 

These include an animation narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What is a Humanist ceremony?’ 

that simply explains the nature and purpose of Humanist naming ceremonies, 

weddings and funerals.  

At KS1 on naming ceremonies there is a film that shows various scenes of naming 

ceremonies, with parents and celebrants talking about the ceremony, and templates 

Page 38

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies


33 
 

that help children plan a naming ceremony and write the promises they would make 

to a new baby. Slides include fourteen statements likely to be made by celebrants at 

naming ceremonies or ministers at christenings for children to define as either 

religious or non-religious.  

At KS2 on Humanist weddings, slides illustrate scenes of religious and Humanist  

weddings to spot the difference, illustrations of symbolic actions like hand-fasting 

and sand pouring, and several activities, including templates to help children plan a 

Humanist wedding, and comparisons of vows and statements likely to be made by 

celebrants at Humanist and non-religious weddings. 

 

 

 Children could:  

     

 help build up lists of the activities we all take part in during community 

celebrations, and of the reminders of those events that we have (including 

video recordings of ceremonies, photos, giving and receiving cards and 

gifts, and special meals or foods) 

 

 make colourful drawings and paintings or simple poems about their special 

times. This would allow all children opportunities to show their feelings 

about their special times. A Humanist approach here would be to explain 

that a child’s own special time does not have to be religious: but then you 

could explore with the children the similarities with the feelings expressed 

by those with faith 

 

 talk about their part in special times for their family and what they enjoy 

about them. This would link with their part in the celebration of these 

special times in Key Stage 1 Unit 1.6 

 

 Inviting both religious and non-religious people to visit and talk about times 

special to them would enhance children’s awareness of this ‘spiritual’ side of 

life, connecting children’s awareness of the value of the Earth, their 

relationships and their ‘inner life’. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



34 
 

KEY QUESTION 1.6 HOW AND WHY DO WE CELEBRATE SPECIAL AND 

SACRED TIMES? 

Bullet point 1 Non-religious and religious people celebrate several special times in 

life in common, especially rites of passage such as birth, marriage and death, which 

are of course  equally important for them all. As these are the special times in life 

that non-religious people celebrate and remember, children should learn about non-

religious special times as well as religious festivals.  

To mark these events Humanists have developed their own non-religious ceremonies 

and celebrations, conducted by trained ‘celebrants’. Baby namings and weddings are 

appropriate for young children to study. Humanist celebrations take place in homes 

or special places to a family rather than places of worship. They do not include 

religious features like hymns, readings from holy books or prayers, because non-

religious people would find taking part in these meaningless and hypocritical. But 

much else is similar to religious ceremonies; there are declarations of love and 

promises of support for a new baby from parents, other family members and special 

friends (rather than godparents), and vows and rings are exchanged between bride 

and groom. Gifts may be given and received and special food, parties and music and 

dance may feature. At Humanist weddings the ceremony may include an old custom 

of ‘handfasting’, where special friends wrap sashes around the clasped hands of 

bride and groom to symbolise a lifelong relationship. There is also much well-loved 

secular music and many songs and readings that celebrate new starts in life. 

Remembrance Day for those who gave their lives in both World Wars is still a 

powerful reminder of the horrors of warfare. Commemoration ceremonies are largely 

religious, but in Greater Manchester Humanists lay a wreath – though they are still 

denied a speaking role. Schools often take time for Remembrance, and this can be 

done in inclusive ways. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

The British Humanist Association’s  resource for teachers ‘Understanding Humanism’ 

provides  a variety of materials relevant to  humanist naming ceremonies found at  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies/  They 

include an animation narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What is a Humanist ceremony?’ that 

very simply explains the nature and purpose of Humanist naming ceremonies, 

weddings and funerals.  

At KS1 on naming ceremonies there is a film that shows various scenes of naming 

ceremonies, with parents and celebrants talking about the ceremony, and templates 

that help children plan a naming ceremony and write the promises they would make 

Page 40

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies/


35 
 

to a new baby. Slides include fourteen statements likely to be made by celebrants at 

naming ceremonies or ministers at christenings for children to define as either 

religious or non-religious.  

At KS2 on Humanist weddings, slides illustrate scenes of religious and Humanist  

weddings to spot the difference, illustrations of symbolic actions like hand-fasting 

and sand pouring, and several activities, including templates to help children plan a 

Humanist wedding, and comparisons of vows and statements likely to be made by 

celebrants at Humanist and non-religious weddings. 

 

 Children can relate to these celebrations and enjoy a range of activities that 

help them appreciate the importance of the events, such as:  

 

 planning the special places they would choose for a ceremony, the 

special friends they would invite, the music and songs they might like 

to hear, and the promises that they would make to a new baby brother 

or sister, or the bride and groom would make to each other 

 

 discussing the symbolic meaning of exchanging rings and ‘handfasting’ 

 

 noting differences and similarities between a Humanist baby naming 

and a religious ceremony: examples from Judaism, Islam and 

Christianity feature in the syllabus. 

 

 discussing what both Humanist and religious ceremonies tell us about 

what is important in life, for example that family matters more than 

money, or that care and compassion are universally valued. 

  

 Remembrance Day’s commemoration of those who gave their lives in the 

World Wars gives an opportunity for children to write poems about what is 

being commemorated, and the value of peace. They might also write their 

own secular tribute to those who died – on both sides of the conflicts. 

      

 children could find out the symbolic meaning of wearing poppies on 

Remembrance Day, and perhaps express their feelings in paintings.                                                      

 

 

 

 

Page 41



36 
 

KEY QUESTION 2.5:  WHY ARE FESTIVALS IMPORTANT TO RELIGIOUS 

COMMUNITIES? 

Bullet point 8 asks children to consider the role of festivals in the life of Britain 

today. This makes the Unit relevant to non-religious children and needs to be 

explored. 

Non-religious people, including many Humanists, take part in religious sacred times 

as celebrations. In Britain these are the major festivals of the Christian faith, 

especially Christmas and Easter. These festivals have both become ‘secularised’ and 

are enjoyed by most people, including many Humanists, independently of their 

religious significance, and are still really significant parts of life.  

Christmas is indeed ‘for everyone’. It was originally a pagan midwinter festival 

bringing warmth and communal enjoyment to a harsh time of the year. Today it still 

has that value: families come together for special meals like Christmas turkey, 

Christmas pudding and Christmas cake, and presents are exchanged; many people 

visit neighbours and friends, cards or email greetings keep long-distant friends in 

touch; street decorations and Christmas trees add colour to life.   

Most Humanists believe that all this gives Christmas some ‘real meaning’. The 

consumerism that has free rein at these times ‘when shops and shopping take over’ 

is regrettable, but Humanists would say that it is not a necessary outcome of 

secularism. It is part of free-market capitalism in which we are all embroiled. The 

need for a better morality based on human values is a challenge to us all, and 

Humanism can provide it. 

Bullet point 8 also makes a comparison between Easter and the Comic Relief Day 

that promotes charitable giving on the global scale. Easter has become for most 

people a public and school holiday, with its religious significance for Christians being 

marginal for many people. So Comic Relief is possibly a bigger festival. Humanists 

would claim that its annual reminder that we have responsibility to those in the 

greatest need around the world gives it a real significance, especially since it is so 

successful in raising charitable funds and practising care and compassion. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 Children could:  

 

 rank the good things about their Christmas celebration 

 

 research the origins of Comic Relief and which needs will be met from 

the next Comic Relief Day 

Page 42



37 
 

 discuss with each other whether they should ask for expensive present 

for Christmas if they know that their parents are short of money 

 

 Consider whether Christmas is a religious festival for Christians, or a 

shared festival for all in the UK today. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



38 
 

KEY QUESTION L2.6: WHY DO SOME PEOPLE THINK THAT LIFE IS A 

JOURNEY, AND WHAT SIGNIFICANT EXPERIENCES MARK THIS? 

 

Bullet points 1 and 8 Humanists and non-religious people do see life as a journey, 

but in a rather different sense from those with faith. There is no one destination in 

the form of everlasting life in heaven, and no holy book to act as a guide or map. 

This means that for Humanists there are individual journeys to realise our potential 

and meet the needs of others, with changes in direction as circumstances change, 

creating new needs and opportunities. So each Humanist has his or her own ‘map of 

life’, making their own interpretation of the world and developing their own often 

changing purposes.  

 

Bullet points 2 and 4 There is no community of the non-religious with distinctive 

beliefs and practices into which to be initiated through ceremonies and making 

promises. However, there are Humanist naming ceremonies which welcome a new 

baby into the family community and give it a good start in life. Promises are made 

by parents, family members and special friends on behalf of the baby. This means 

that young people do not make any formal promises to the community for 

themselves, but nevertheless almost all children will develop commitments, both to 

themselves and to others.  

 

Bullet point 5 Marriage is the main ceremony in life’s journey for most non-

religious people. Most non-religious marriage ceremonies take place in registry 

offices, hotels or in stately homes or other venues licensed for marriages, although 

many people without religious belief marry in church or chapel in order to make the 

ceremony special. But the British Humanist Association trains ‘celebrants’ who 

conduct Humanist weddings. These involve promises and commitments, exchange of 

rings and in some cases the old custom of ‘handfasting’, a symbolic binding of 

sashes of the clasped hands of bride and groom by their special friends. There are 

no hymns, prayers or readings from holy books, but well-loved music, songs and 

readings from secular writers. Humanist weddings are for all who want to ne 

married, including same-sex or divorced couples: all that is required is true love. 

These ceremonies are as meaningful for all involved as religious ones. Humanism 

has a long record of campaigning for fairness in this area, with regard for example 

to ‘equal marriage’ and for non-judgmental attitudes to those who live in 

partnerships of love without the formalities of a wedding ceremony. 

 

 

Bullet point 6 Humanist funerals mark the end of life in a meaningful way for 

everyone involved. These ceremonies are conducted by trained ‘celebrants’, after 

close consultation with the family of the deceased. There are no hymns, prayers or 

readings from holy books, but instead songs, music and readings loved by the 

Page 44



39 
 

deceased. The ceremony is a celebration of the deceased’s journey through life, and  

artefacts like photo albums, walking boots or golf clubs may be placed on the coffin 

to represent the good times and enjoyments in their lives. There is no reference to 

any after-life, so all can take a full part in the ceremony without feeling the need to 

‘switch off’ during religious passages.  

Dealing with death is a sensitive subject, especially if children have experienced a 

recent loss; but a valuable part of the Humanist perspective for everyone is that 

although there is always sadness and a sense of loss and bereavement when it 

happens, we need not be distressed at the idea of dying. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s  resource for teachers ‘Understanding Humanism’ 

provides  a variety of materials relevant to  humanist naming ceremonies found at  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies/  They 

include an animation narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What is a Humanist ceremony?’ that 

very simply explains the nature and purpose of Humanist naming ceremonies, 

weddings and funerals.  

At KS1 on naming ceremonies there is a film that shows various scenes of naming 

ceremonies, with parents and celebrants talking about the ceremony, and templates 

that help children plan a naming ceremony and write the promises they would make 

to a new baby. Slides include fourteen statements likely to be made by celebrants at 

naming ceremonies or ministers at christenings for children to define as either 

religious or non-religious.  

 

At KS2 on Humanist weddings, slides illustrate scenes of religious and Humanist  

weddings to spot the difference, illustrations of symbolic actions like hand-fasting 

and sand pouring, and several activities, including templates to help children plan a 

Humanist wedding, and comparisons of vows and statements likely to be made by 

celebrants at Humanist and non-religious weddings. 

 

 Children can relate to these resources, and enjoy a range of activities that 

help them appreciate the importance of these events, such as:  

 

 planning the special places they would choose for a ceremony, the 

special friends they would invite, the music and songs they might like 

to hear, and the promises that they would make to a new baby brother 

or sister, or the bride and groom would make to each other 

 

 writing a message or a poem welcoming a new baby or wishing a 

brother or sister a happy married life 

Page 45

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies/


40 
 

 

 discussing the differences and similarities between a Humanist baby 

naming and a religious christening, and a Humanist wedding and a 

religious one 

 

 discussing what Humanist and religious ceremonies tell us about what 

is important in life  

 

 possibly enacting a Humanist baby-naming or wedding. 

 

 You might feel it is possible to discuss experience of a Humanist funeral with 

your children, perhaps speaking from your experience. A trained Humanist 

celebrant might be prepared to describe a Humanist funeral, and discuss with  

children whether they think we can be sad and happy at the same time.  

 

 The British Humanist Association provides teaching resources on Humanist 

funerals on its website ‘Understanding Humanism’. This can be found at:   

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/. They include 

a 12 minute film of a Humanist funeral with interviews with the celebrant and 

relatives, and a discussion between young people on their own beliefs about 

death. Also provided are examples of comments by Humanist celebrants, 

appropriate poems, and a response sheet to questions about death. 

 

 Children could make their own lists and rank in order the commitments that 

they have both to themselves and to others. 

 

 Children could make their own ‘maps of life’ from birth – and perhaps where 

they would like to go in the future. What would they need to help them 

achieve their hopes? Would it matter if they changed the direction they plan 

to go in?  

 

 Children might discuss whether the Golden Rule is a good guide. How do they 

like to be treated – and not treated! 

 

 You might invite a Humanist volunteer speaker to tell the class about his or 

her journey through life, the guidebook they use, the signposts they followed 

when they had to make important choices in life, and things they might have 

done but couldn’t do. 

 

 

Page 46

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/life-and-death/


41 
 

KEY QUESTION U2.5:  IS IT BETTER TO EXPRESS YOUR RELIGION IN ARTS 

AND ARCHITECTURE OR IN CHARITY AND GENEROSITY? 

It is important to remember that the syllabus refers to both religions and world 

views, and that non-religious people can have as much commitment to charitable 

giving as the religious. So non-religious children may well have strong views on this 

issue. While some charities are overtly religious, others such as Oxfam work without 

reference to religion, and many people feel more comfortable with this secular form 

of charity. 

Most Humanists will almost certainly say that acting out their values in charity and 

generosity towards others are more important ways to express their beliefs than 

creating great art or architecture, in their case created for secular purposes. This is 

because:  

 the most important thing for Humanists is how we treat other human beings: 

the Golden Rule says that this should be in ways that we would want to be 

treated, and not in ways that we or others  would not like to be treated. 

Humanism is about creating relationships with others that promote happiness 

in this life. It is equally important for Humanists to remove as much 

unhappiness and misery as they can, and improve the well-being of those 

with whom they interact, creating ‘the greatest happiness of the greatest 

number’. 

 

 charitable action is the best way to do this because it brings immediate 

benefits in well-being to those who receive it, and are in need. Generosity of 

this kind creates feelings of gratitude and warmth that act as bonds between 

human beings. 

 

 non-religious people may admire art and architecture inspired by faith, but 

they would say that the wealth and resources used to create magnificent 

religious buildings for the glory of God could do more good for human beings 

if spent on meeting the immediate needs of the poor. 

 

 appreciating beauty in art and architecture is easier if people are well fed, 

well housed, healthy, in well-paid employment and educated. All these basic 

needs are the objectives of charity: it may be very difficult to move on to 

experiences that need time and resources to enjoy until these needs are met  

(see Abraham  Maslow’s ‘hierarchy of needs’). 

 

These views are almost certainly different from those of many people with religious 

faith, who would want to express their love of God in both art and architecture, and 

Page 47



42 
 

charity and generosity.  Undoubtedly you can do both, but most Humanists would 

put the emphasis much more firmly on charity and generosity than buildings as 

expressions of their beliefs. Humanists have made important contributions to the 

work of the many non-religious organisations that seek to promote human well-

being and depend on charity to continue their work. 

However, no Humanist would argue that all our resources should go to charity. As 

well as encouraging art and fine architecture, they would want to fund education 

generously so that every aspect of human knowledge was available for study, and 

fund scientific research both to advance knowledge through astrophysics and  

improve human welfare through greater understanding of genetics and further 

improvements in medical treatment. 

      

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 If your school supports a non-religious charity or engages in charitable 

activity, your children could find out more about the work that is done and 

the benefits it brings. A worker for the charity might be prepared to come into 

school to talk about his or her experiences. 

 

 A Humanist visitor could answer children’s questions on the value of  

charitable activity, and explain why he or she thinks it is important. 

 

 Group work and discussion might include: 

 

 following up the suggested ranking of children’s ideas about generosity 

and charity by dividing them into religious and non-religious and seeing 

where these overlap (it is likely that many values will be shared) 

 

 researching into how and why philanthropists like Warren Buffet or 

Lord Sainsbury donate large sums to charitable or educational work. 

They could assess how important  religion is as a motive for their good 

works, and whether their work is Humanist 

 

 discussing which would be the greater loss to humanity - art and 

architecture or charity and generosity (hopefully children will recognise 

that humans probably need both!) 

 

 working on priorities in charity: given four or five charities with 

different purposes (eg Oxfam, Water Aid, Age Concern, Children in 

Need and the Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals) 

Page 48



43 
 

how would they divide up £100 between these? (NB religious charities 

are not included in the list so that the discussions can focus on the 

targets and recipients of the charities’ work, without children with 

religious faith feeling influenced by any religious motivation.)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



44 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.7: HOW CAN PEOPLE EXPRESS THE SPIRITUAL 

THROUGH THE ARTS? 

Bullet point 1 and 5 There is a debate among Humanists about the very existence 

of a spiritual dimension in life. This is largely because the term ‘spiritual’ has been 

efined by religions as relating solely to the ‘supernatural world’. Because Humanism 

only believes in the natural world, some Humanists dismiss the concept of spiritual 

altogether. Indeed, some ‘materialistic’ Humanists go further and argue that because  

all our feelings and emotions can be explained scientifically in terms of chemistry 

and electricity, they are not ‘real’. 

However, most Humanists follow the British Humanist Association’s view that life 

does have a spiritual dimension for us all, as expressed in the term ‘the human 

spirit’. Our feelings and emotions, of love, longing and joy, of awe at the wonders 

and beauty of nature, and of inspiration from literature, music, philosophy, art and  

architecture are real, and transcend the material side of life. Our responses to 

suffering, including courage, hopefulness, solidarity and kindness, are expressions of 

this ‘human spirit’. 

 

Bullet point 7 Human happiness and fulfilment is to a large extent achieved 

through our emotions and feelings. These are as central to Humanism as the logical 

and rational thought which guides us in getting the most out of our experiences. 

They make a big contribution to making life meaningful. 

Emotions and feelings are common to us all: they don’t depend on rational thinking 

for most Humanists, and no Humanist believes that they are a gift of God. In fact 

Humanists feel strongly that restricting the spiritual to a supernatural domain can 

devalue the lives of non-religious people in the eyes of those with faith. Non-

religious children may sense this in RE lessons, so all children need to have their 

feelings and emotions validated and affirmed. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 Just a few examples of non-religious music and visual art exploring and 

expressing  the spiritual beyond words make the Humanist point very 

effectively – such as Richard Strauss’s opening to ‘Also Sprach Zarathustra’ 

(used in the film 2001), Katchachurian’s love theme from ‘Spartacus’, or 

Picasso’s depiction of the sorrows of war in his painting ‘Guernica’. More 

modern examples from the Beatles, Paul Simon and Stevie Wonder to Ed 

Sheeran and Katie Perry may be used too. 

 

Page 50



45 
 

 Comparisons of religious and non-religious art and architecture can be very 

effective, eg playing  Beethoven’s Ode to Joy from his choral ninth symphony 

beside the last movement of Mahler’s ‘Resurrection’ second  symphony, 

comparing a painting of the crucifixion with Picasso’s Guernica as an 

expression of suffering, or comparing the Sydney Opera House and a 

cathedral.  

 

 Discussions of the nature of spirituality should include the Humanist 

perspective to validate the feelings and emotions of non-religious young 

people and support them in feeling ownership of this dimension of life. 

Examples might be: 

 

 which of the above experiences feel most significant, and why? 

 

 whether we can all be creative, eg in creating things of beauty that 

provide a spiritual experience 

 

 whether believing that we have nothing to look forward to beyond this 

one life on earth means we are less able to appreciate the spiritual 

dimension of life or more able to do so. 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



46 
 

HUMANIST SUPPORT DOCUMENT FOR ‘RELIGIOUS LITERACY 

FOR ALL’ 

STRAND C: LIVING 

 

CONTENTS 

Key Questions 

KQ F3:     BEING SPECIAL: WHERE DO WE BELONG?                                     47

  

 

KQ F6:      WHAT IS SPECIAL ABOUT OUR WORLD?                                        50  

 

 KQ 1.8:    HOW SHOULD WE CARE FOR OTHERS AND THE WORLD,            52   

               AND WHY DOES IT MATTER?       

 

KQ L2.9:  WHAT CAN WE LEARN FROM RELIGIONS ABOUT DECIDING                56 

               WHAT IS RIGHT AND WHAT IS WRONG? 

 

KQ U2.6:  WHAT DOES IT MEAN TO BE A HUMANIST IN BRITAIN TODAY?          60       

KQ U2.7:   WHAT MATTERS MOST TO CHRISTIANS AND HUMANISTS?                65 

KQ U2.8:   WHAT DIFFERENCE DOES IT MAKE TO BELIEVE IN                           70 

                AHIMSA (HARMLESSNESS)? 

 

KQ 3.9:    SHOULD HAPPINESS BE THE PURPOSE OF LIFE?                                71   

KQ 3.1O:  DOES RELIGION HELP PEOPLE TO BE GOOD?                                    75   

KQ 3.11:  IS RELIGION A POWER FOR PEACE OR A CAUSE OF  CONFLICT            80 

               IN THE WORLD TODAY?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



47 
 

KEY QUESTION F3: BEING SPECIAL: WHERE DO WE BELONG? 

Both religious and non-religious people regard human beings as special, but for 

different reasons. For religious believers they are the special creation of God, with 

souls and an immortal future; for Humanists they are special because they are the 

most developed species of life on earth, able to think and reason, communicate their 

ideas widely, and feel love and empathy towards many others. 

Bullet point 1 The fact that human beings are unique and valuable is central to 

Humanism. It means that each is potentially of equal value, equally important to 

themselves, and deserving as much consideration and respect as we expect from 

them. This is the basis of the Humanist ‘Golden Rule’ which all young children can 

appreciate and understand: treat others as you would like them to treat you, and 

don’t treat them in ways that neither you nor they would wish. All young children 

should be introduced to this concept: it is at the heart of fairness which they know 

very well. It is also the basis of morality. 

Bullet point 5 Both non-religious and religious naming ceremonies welcome a new 

life into the world as a special and unique member of a family and a community. 

Humanist baby-naming ceremonies are increasingly popular as more people identify 

themselves as non-religious, but still value ceremonies and rituals at special times in 

life. The ceremonies usually take place in the family’s home, and are led by 

‘celebrants’ trained by the British Humanist Association. The ceremonies do not have 

readings from a holy book, hymns or prayers: instead they have well-loved songs, 

readings and poetry that welcome a new life, some perhaps written by children in 

the family to welcome their new brother or sister. Parents and ‘special friends’ make 

promises to love and care for the new member of the family. Gifts may be given,  

perhaps books or plants to celebrate a new life, and children make their own  

welcoming cards.    

 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s resource pack for teachers ‘Understanding 

Humanism’ provides very useful materials on what makes us special at the web site    

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/knowledge-and-belief 

Slides in the presentation show animals with special characteristics, and provide 

some questions to be entered on a grid according to being either easy or difficult, 

interesting or boring. There are activities to encourage children in groups to enjoy 

our special ability to ask questions, and a film ‘Why are questions important to 

Page 53

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/knowledge-and-belief


48 
 

Humanists?’ where the author Philip Pullman talks about our curiosity and interest in 

other people. 

 asking children what makes them special might well produce religious and 

non-religious responses in the class: both of course deserve equal approval, 

and can contribute to learning by engaging children in dialogue about human 

diversity. 

 

 Children might enjoy making a list of things that make them special and then 

sorting them into religious and non-religious examples. 

 

The British Humanist Association’s teachers’ resource pack ‘Understanding 

Humanism’ has information and suggestions for activities on naming ceremonies at  

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies/  

These include an animation narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What is a Humanist ceremony?’ 

that simply explains the nature and purpose of Humanist naming ceremonies, 

weddings and funerals.  

At KS1 on naming ceremonies there is a film that shows various scenes of naming 

ceremonies, with parents and celebrants talking about the ceremony, and templates 

that help children plan a naming ceremony and write the promises they would make 

to a new baby. Slides include fourteen statements likely to be made by celebrants at 

naming ceremonies or ministers at christenings for children to define as either 

religious or non-religious.  

‘Humanism4schools’ has a short film ‘How Humanists celebrate a new life’ showing a 

naming ceremony held in a family’s home. Young children will really enjoy this visual 

presentation. 

 

 children will enjoy discussing in groups what they like about the Humanist 

baby naming ceremony they have seen. Perhaps if any of your children have 

been to a baptism or other religious welcome for a new brother or sister you 

could ask them whether they notice any differences or similarities.  

 

 children might discuss what they would promise a new brother or sister at a 

baby naming, and perhaps make a card with a heart and a simple message 

like ‘I will love you’ that would be a remembrance of the day. 

The British Humanist Association’s teachers’ resource pack ‘Understanding 

Humanism at http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/ gives the 

Humanist perspective on the Golden Rule and ethics generally. ‘What is the Golden 

Rule?’ gives a statement of the  Golden Rule and many examples of it worldwide 

together with a map (see activity suggestion below).There is also, from 

Page 54

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/celebrations-and-ceremonies/
http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/


49 
 

‘Humanism4schools’, a short video statement of the Rule by the children’s writer 

Philip Pullman entitled ‘Humanism and the Golden Rule’. 

 

There are discussion topics such as ranking a number of rules, a dilemma about 

whether to tell a lie where the truth might cause harm, and an example of well-

meaning misuse of the Golden Rule. There are also many interesting and challenging 

activities about moral dilemmas when applying the Golden Rule in everyday life, 

such as road or rail accidents where you can decide the number of people who will 

be hurt, seeing someone stealing money but in a good cause, and whistle-blowing. 

 

Referenced in this section of the resource are short videos in ‘Humanism4schools’ 

Two feature the children’s writer Philip Pullman. In ‘The importance of human 

nature’, he talks about the importance of our conscience as part of our nature, and 

fair and unfair behaviour; and in ‘What do we mean by behaving well?’ he describes 

the reasons for the good behaviour of one of the characters in ‘Northern Lights’, the 

first in his series of books ‘His dark materials’. In another video in this series ‘How do 

Humanists decide what is right and wrong?, several Humanists give their personal 

views. There is also an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What makes 

something right or wrong?’.        

 

 simple scenarios of fair and unfair behaviour can show how the Golden Rule is 

the basis for morality: eg how would the children feel if someone did or said 

something unkind to them? Would they allow someone to be unkind to 

another child in the class? To say something untrue? To take what belongs to 

someone else? 

  

 discussion of the Golden Rule can take many forms: because all children know 

about fairness and unfairness, one good approach is group work collecting 

examples of fair and unfair behaviour (which will probably include name-

calling or bullying and give an opportunity to remind children how to act if 

this happens). Then discussing rules for fair behaviour should produce the 

golden one! Everyone is special and so should be treated well. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



50 
 

KEY QUESTION F6: WHAT IS SPECIAL ABOUT OUR WORLD? 

Bullet point 1 Humanists and non-religious people generally regard our natural 

world with as much awe and wonder as those with faith who believe it was created 

by God. it is ‘very good’ (bullet point 6) for us all. The Humanist naturalist Sir David 

Attenborough has perhaps done more than anyone to raise this awareness in Britain 

through his television programmes. 

So far as we know our world and our form of life is unique, though cosmologists are 

discovering evidence of planets of other stars that may be able to sustain life. Not 

everyone believes that our world and our life form was created by God, especially 

not in a short period of time, so perhaps you could tell your children that many 

people now think that the beginning of the universe and the beginning of life 

happened a very, very long time ago.  

Charles Darwin’s discovery of the process of evolution accounts for all the 

developments of life forms since life itself began, again over a very long period of 

time. He noted differences in the beaks of finches and the shells of tortoises on 

different islands in the Galapagos that have come about over long periods of time so 

they can find food in different habitats. Changes like these have ensured the 

‘survival of the fittest’ in all life forms, because species that do not adapt die out. 

This process has created the ‘tree of life’ – and human beings. It means that the 

story of the creation of human beings in Genesis is not accurate. We are the 

outcome of natural processes. 

Bullet point 5 Human beings are the cleverest species with great power to change 

the world, so we have full responsibility to look after it. This concept of human 

responsibility is very important for Humanists: we all have rights as individuals 

because we are special, but with every right comes responsibility. Living in this world 

brings the responsibility to care for it so that other people and future generations 

can enjoy it as much as we do. 

 For very young children the idea of caring for the world comes very naturally 

through caring for animals: we need to keep the natural world safe for them. This 

point can be added to any of the religious or non-religious stories that you could use 

about care for animals, and discussions of how children look after their pets. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

 extracts from any programme on the natural world by David Attenborough 

illustrate its wonder and beauty, as do all the activities suggested in bullet 

point 2.  

 

Page 56



51 
 

 Martin Palmer and Esther Bissett’s Humanist creation story in ‘Worlds of 

Difference’ (Blackie Schools, 2000) introduces children to the idea of gradual, 

natural change and the immensity of time needed for this to take place. This 

can be compared to the Biblical story in Genesis 1 of creation in six days. 

 

 tell the story of Charles Darwin and his discoveries during his voyage on the 

Beagle and discuss with the children how he explained the differences he 

noted in animals and birds on different islands. A good opening question for 

four year olds might be why there are so many different types of birds? (This 

could introduce the idea of gradual change over long periods of time, but this 

is expecting a lot of very young children!) 

 

 a good question for four year olds is how can we show that we care for the 

Earth? 

 

 the need to care for the world in which children’s pets live may need to be 

shown by examples from wild rather than domestic animals. Examples are the 

fall in numbers of birds and butterflies because of the removal of hedges and 

trees, or the drainage of wet lands and tillage of hay meadows where plants 

grow on which they depend. 

 

 there are many non-religious stories and examples about caring for animals 

and the world that you could use as parallels to those quoted in bullet points 

6 and 7. These include: 

 

 The story of ‘The man and the little cat’ (which was trapped in a hole 

and scratched the man many times until in the end he managed to 

release it). This has the Humanist ‘Golden Rule’ – treat others as you 

would like them to treat you - written as part of its moral! 

 the wardens in African game parks who live and sleep with orphaned 

animals (eg elephants) for weeks until they recover from their traumas. 

This illustrates the need to care for animals in need, and for the world 

they live in so their parents can survive to care for them. 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 57



52 
 

KEY QUESTION 1.8: HOW SHOULD WE CARE FOR OTHERS AND THE 

WORLD, AND WHY DOES IT MATTER? 

A Humanist perspective should permeate this Unit. Disappointingly it is very seldom 

made explicit in the Suggested Content, but it is essential to do so if this very 

important concept is shown to be fully relevant for non-religious children. Otherwise 

they will inevitably feel that only religious people care properly: this is exclusion not 

inclusion. Here are some ideas for setting the balance right. 

Bullet point 1 The fact that human beings are unique and valuable is central to 

Humanism. It means that each of us is special: potentially of equal value, as 

important to themselves as we are, and deserving as much care, consideration and 

respect as we expect from them.  

Bullet point 2 Demonstrating the idea of good and bad in the benefits and 

responsibilities of friendship shows all children the importance of right and wrong. It 

is the Golden Rule of Humanism in action, a secular, non-religious explanation of 

morality.   

Bullet point 3 Awareness that we all have special gifts that can benefit others 

emerges from Humanism quite as strongly as from any religious source.  

Bullet point 4 Serving others and supporting the poor is as important to non-

religious people as to those with faith. This once more is the Golden Rule in practice. 

Bullet point 5  Children should be shown that many people have been inspired to 

care for people for humanitarian reasons. A good example would be Mary Seacole, 

who cared for those suffering in a cholera epidemic in Jamaica, and then for soldiers 

injured in the Crimean war: she did not became a Christian until later in life. Children 

need to know that feelings of humanity are common to us all. 

Bullet point 6  The choice of a non-religious local charity would show the universal 

nature of care.   

Bullet point 7  It is very unfortunate that the reference to the Golden Rule here is 

in purely religious terms. Teachers should explain to children that this rule is at the 

heart of Humanism too, even if it did not originate there. (Its earliest formulations 

are probably in early Chinese civilisations, which were all non-religious or secular.) It 

is the key to morality for all human beings, and finding it in all faiths just underlines 

this point. 

Bullet point 8 Any discussion of creation as in Genesis must surely include an 

explanation for all children that for many people, religious and non-religious, it is not 

seen as an accurate or historical account. A brief outline of the scientific explanation 

of the origins of the universe and life on earth would help the children to see the 

Page 58



53 
 

nature and value of both mythology and scientific explanations. Otherwise children 

may well grow up rejecting every aspect of the Bible as outdated myth. 

Bullet point 9  The need to improve the way that humans care for the world, and 

to lessen the consequences of human exploitation of nature is felt by non-religious 

people every bit as strongly as by those of faith. It is central to Humanism because 

the consequences of not caring for the world, like global warming, include harm and 

unhappiness in the form of suffering and death as natural disasters increase, sea 

levels rise, and poverty, malnutrition and ill-health increase for future generations.  

 

Global responsibilities (an additional comment). 

Caring for the world is a moral as well as a practical issue. The way of life we enjoy  

in our part of the world has been based on burning fossil fuels to create electricity, 

and manufacturing goods from natural resources at a cost to people in poorer parts 

of the world. So we humans have been responsible for pollution, poverty and to at 

least some degree for global warming. We all need a new ethical awareness based 

on concern for humanity as a whole, and a new relationship with the natural world. 

That is why Humanists think of themselves as global citizens with global 

responsibilities. They are optimistic that we can and will limit the damage; but one 

thing Humanists are sure about is that no other power will intervene to save us from 

the consequences of our behaviour. 

There is a clash between the views of Humanists and those of one powerful religious 

organisation on one aspect of human behaviour causing damage to the world. 

Continued population growth will cause more and more demand for food, power and 

products, so there is a strong case for trying to limit it. But the Roman Catholic 

Church refuses for doctrinal reasons to authorise the use of contraceptives by its 

followers. Humanists consider this to be immoral.  

  

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s resource pack ‘Understanding Humanism: found 

at gihttp://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/ gives the Humanist 

perspective on the Golden Rule and ethics generally. ‘What is the Golden Rule?’ 

gives a statement of the  Golden Rule and many examples of it worldwide together 

with a map (see activity suggestion below).There is also, from ‘Humanism4schools’, 

a short video statement of the Rule by the children’s writer Philip Pullman entitled 

‘Humanism and the Golden Rule’. 

 

Page 59

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/


54 
 

There are discussion topics such as ranking a number of rules, a dilemma about 

whether to tell a lie where the truth might cause harm, and an example of well-

meaning misuse of the Golden Rule. There are also many interesting and challenging 

activities about moral dilemmas when applying the Golden Rule in everyday life, 

such as road or rail accidents where you can decide the number of people who will 

be hurt, seeing someone stealing money but in a good cause, and whistle-blowing. 

 

Referenced in this section of the resource are short videos in ‘Humanism4schools’. 

Two feature the children’s writer Philip Pullman: in ‘The importance of human 

nature’, he talks about the importance of our conscience as part of our nature, and 

fair and unfair behaviour; and in ‘What do we mean by behaving well?’ he describes 

the reasons for the good behaviour of one of the characters in ‘Northern Lights’, the 

first in his series of books ‘His dark materials’. In another video in this series ‘How do 

Humanists decide what is right and wrong?’(2) several Humanists give their personal 

views. There is also an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What makes 

something right or wrong?’.        

 

 

 Group activities could include: 

 

 A good opening question might be ‘Can we look after the Earth more 

carefully? 

 

 ways in which children think they could put the Golden Rule into 

practice in the classroom (a good way of reinforcing your classroom 

rules!) 

 

 poster work, each with a ‘Humanist’ message like ‘we’re kind to our 

friends’, ‘make people happy’, ‘unkind words hurt’, ‘litter is ugly’ or 

’save our trees’. Topics might be:  

             being friends 

             caring for others 

             challenging bullying 

             stopping people dropping litter 

             encouraging recycling and re-using. 

 

 a litter-picking walk 

 

 a competition to see which group could collect the most paper and 

packaging for recycling 

 

Page 60



55 
 

 a longer-term project perhaps by a ‘gardening club’ to grow some 

vegetables in the classroom like lettuce and radish, or tomatoes in a 

Growbag, or potatoes if there is room for a (very small) plot of land in 

the school grounds. All these enjoyable activities do, of course, need to 

be tied in to the theme by appropriate discussion! 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



56 
 

KEY QUESTION L2.9: WHAT CAN WE LEARN FROM RELIGIONS ABOUT 

DECIDING WHAT IS RIGHT AND WHAT IS WRONG? 

Humanism is above all a secular morality: a set of values that helps us live in a 

humane way with sensitivity to the needs of others in a community. It is a morality 

originating from life in this world, a meaningful alternative to any laid down from a 

supernatural source. This makes it relevant to those without religious faith, who 

need to be assured that they can lead a good life (bullet point 3) without guidance 

and support from God. Understanding that you can be good without God will earn 

respect from those who have religious faith.  

 

Bullet point 1 makes specific reference to ‘the golden rule for Humanists’ – treat 

others as you would like them to treat you, and not in ways that neither you nor 

they would like. This rule is included in all the major world faiths and belief systems. 

For Humanists the Golden Rule is the only one that really matters: if it is followed it 

prevents conflict and ensures good relations and happiness, because other people’s 

happiness is as important as our own, and most people appreciate being treated 

well. More important from a secular viewpoint, the Golden Rule is a natural part of 

living together in a successful community: not following it leads to aggression and 

hostility that damages and eventually destroys a community. Here is a natural 

explanation for understanding right and wrong as thinking, caring beings.  

It is always important when discussing the Golden Rule to stress how important 

empathy is for Humanists. A common view of Humanism is that it is a matter of just 

being logical and rational, a dry and intellectual approach. But the Golden Rule 

means that we must always try to put ourselves in other people’s shoes, feel what 

our behaviour means to them, and be sensitive to their individual and quite possibly 

different values. Empathy and reasoning out the consequences of our behaviour 

must go together – and anyone can do it! You don’t have to be an academic to be a 

Humanist.  

Bullet point 4 The Golden Rule is therefore a basic guideline for good behaviour 

and helps answer the question in this bullet point about where humanists look for 

guidance.  There are two other sources of guidance in addition to parental guidance. 

The first is our ability to work out for ourselves the consequences of our actions, 

often through observing the consequences of the behaviour of others, good and bad 

– and human beings can be very selfish and bad. The second is our capacity to feel 

empathy with others, which means that we try not to cause harm to others, feel 

compassion when we see people unhappy and miserable, and want to help them. 

The understanding of right and wrong that following these sources of guidance 

creates is often called our conscience, a sense of right and wrong that we share with 

most other people. All these are things that young children can understand. 

Page 62



57 
 

Perhaps this could be put to children in this simple moral equation: The Golden Rule 

+ Consequences + Empathy = Good Life. 

So Humanists have to look into themselves for guidance, but they also draw on 

assistance from other Humanists, and the inspiration of the writings of people like 

Epicurus, David Hume, Thomas Paine, Mary Wollstonecraft, Jeremy Bentham, John 

Stuart Mill and Bertrand Russell. Thinkers like these are the sources of wisdom who 

have established key principles like living a life in harmony with the natural world, 

working to secure the rights of all men and women, aiming to produce as much 

happiness as possible by thinking through all possible consequences of action, 

avoiding doing harm and seeking to improve our world. These principles are 

universal, but Humanists think they can be applied to changing circumstances 

perhaps rather better than more detailed commandments. Perhaps some very simple 

quotations from some of these thinkers might suit the learning needs of 10 and 11 

year olds? Google ‘Brainyquotes’ under each! Eg ‘The greatest happiness of the 

greatest number is the measure of right and wrong’ (Bentham) or ‘My country is the 

world, and my religion is to do good’ (Thomas Paine).  

Bullet point 5 suggests that decisions in difficult situations may be easier for 

religious people to make than others. Humanists would agree there are difficult 

decisions to be made, because the balance of outcomes is often very difficult to 

judge, and there may be unintended consequences. But careful thought in changing 

circumstances often means that we need to change our opinions and ways of acting. 

It is not always easy for religious believers to do this because of doctrines, so 

Humanists think that it is they who are in a better position to make difficult 

decisions! 

Bullet point 7 lists all the best qualities in life for discussion: Humanists believe in 

them all and try to put into effect in their lives, as do most human beings. It is 

supremely important that RE teaching does not imply that these depend on religious 

faith. If it does, often by omission of alternative viewpoints, this may explain why 

many young people reject or grow out of religious faith.     

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s  resource pack ‘Understanding Humanism’ found 

at (http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/) gives the Humanist 

perspective on the Golden Rule and ethics generally. ‘What is the Golden Rule?’ 

gives a statement of the  Golden Rule and many examples of it worldwide together 

with a map (see activity suggestion below).There is also, from ‘Humanism4schools’, 

a short video statement of the Rule by the children’s writer Philip Pullman entitled 

‘Humanism and the Golden Rule’. 

Page 63

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/


58 
 

 

There are discussion topics such as ranking a number of rules, a dilemma about 

whether to tell a lie where the truth might cause harm, and an example of well-

meaning misuse of the Golden Rule. There are also many interesting and challenging 

activities about moral dilemmas when applying the Golden Rule in everyday life, 

such as road or rail accidents where you can decide the number of people who will 

be hurt, seeing someone stealing money but in a good cause, and whistle-blowing. 

 

Referenced in this section of the resource are short videos in ‘Humanism4schools’. 

Two feature the children’s writer Philip Pullman: in ‘The importance of human 

nature’, he talks about the importance of our conscience as part of our nature, and 

fair and unfair behaviour; and in ‘What do we mean by behaving well?’ he describes 

the reasons for the good behaviour of one of the characters in ‘Northern Lights’, the 

first in his series of books ‘His dark materials’. In another video in this series ‘How do 

Humanists decide what is right and wrong?’(2), several Humanists give their 

personal views. There is also an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What 

makes something right or wrong?’.        

 

 

 an easy and simple approach to discussing the Golden Rule would be to  ask the 

children how they would feel if someone did or said something unkind to them? 

Would they allow someone to be unkind to another child? To say something 

untrue? To take things that belong to someone else?  

 

 discussion of issues of right and wrong works best through situations as 

suggested in bullet point 5, especially where there are no clear-cut answers. 

Some good actions benefit most people but hurt others; some break other good 

rules; actions against some bad behaviour may have bad results; good actions 

may hurt you. Some useful scenarios are: 

 you have to choose between playing a team game in an important 

match where you are a key player, or visiting a close friend in 

hospital just before they have a serious operation. Which do you 

do? Why? 

 a friend asks you what you think of something they are really proud 

about, but you think it is rubbish. Do you tell them your true 

feelings or tell a ‘white lie’? Why? 

 you see a neighbour who is really poor with a large family, a person 

you don’t really like, trying to get some food items for her children 

through a super market checkout without paying. Do you tell a 

store detective or say nothing? Why? 

Page 64



59 
 

 do you join in when some friends of yours say unkind things to a 

less popular classmate, or stick up for him or her, or say nothing in 

case you become unpopular too? Why? 

          How did the group decide? Did the Golden Rule help here? Did religious  

          guidance help? Is one better than the other? 

          These scenarios are also good for pupils to use in improvisation and drama.       

          They could be asked to develop and act out another similar scenario of      

          their own. 

     

 your children might be able to discuss with you whether they need to have hope 

of life in Heaven or fear of life in Hell to make them behave well.  

 

 at least one inspirational non-religious person should be added to Archbishop 

Desmond Tutu and Martin Luther King in bullet point 6. Nelson Mandela, for 

whom Tutu was a tireless supporter, would be an excellent choice: although 

brought up in a religious school (there were no others available) he made hardly 

any references to divine guidance or support in his life-long struggle to end the 

inhumanities of apartheid in his country and end the suffering of his people. In 

Britain, Annie Besant was the inspirational leader of the London ‘match girls’ in 

their successful campaign in 1888 against dangerous and ill-paid working 

conditions; and the initiator of free school meals and medical inspection for 

school children as leader of the London School Board.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 65



60 
 

KEY QUESTION U2.6:  WHAT DOES IT MEAN TO BE A HUMANIST IN 

BRITAIN TODAY? 

If the needs of non-religious children are to be met adequately as this syllabus 

requires, then the meaning of Humanism in Britain today deserves an equal place 

alongside the three religions. This Unit should therefore be equally shared with 

Islam.  

This suggested Humanist half unit on ‘What does it mean to be a Humanist in Britain 

today’ draws on relevant elements common to this Unit and Units L2.7 on being a 

Christian in Britain today, and Unit L2.8 on being a Hindu in Britain today. But it will 

also address some very serious issues in our society which the other three Units do 

not tackle. These include: 

 racist attacks on both European and non-European immigrants, with 

immigrants blamed for our social and economic ills 

 

 a ‘demonising’ of the poor, including many working parents who have to 

supplement earnings by benefits, who are angry at the hopelessness caused 

by de-industrialisation and attracted to right-wing groups. 

 

 a disgraceful hatred of people with disabilities. 

 

 open expression of religious hatred, especially Islamophobia . 

 

 a loss of trust, respect and community feeling, which have been replaced for 

a growing number of older people by experience of isolation, and for young 

people by a sense of alienation that creates fear and dislike. 

It would obviously not be appropriate to dwell on these problems with primary 

children. There are still many good things about British society, and Britain is not 

alone in experiencing problems. But many children and young people are growing up 

very much aware of these developments, so they are not irrelevant to them. 

‘What does it mean to be a Humanist in Britain today’ addresses these issues and 

fills the gap left even by ‘Religious Literacy for All’. Humanism is well suited to do 

this; it aims to make improvements in our life, and it is a secular value system that 

responds to the better feelings and instincts of British people.  

The starting point is that Humanists believe in human rights. ‘What does it mean to 

be a Humanist in Britain today? challenges hatreds and shows children the 

importance of what have been seen as British values – fairness, tolerance, the value 

of each individual, recognition of differences and equal treatment. These can all be 

drawn from the Golden Rule, and this can be explored with children as shown below, 

Page 66



61 
 

in ways that address the first three problems listed above and are appropriate to 

their age level and understanding. 

The problem of religious hatred and community conflict has to be tackled head on. 

We all have a responsibility to rebuild social and community cohesion, because 

religious hatred has roots among both the religious and the non-religious. Changing 

this is a huge challenge for non-religious people who have no natural sympathy with 

religious belief, but the principles of Humanism show the way forward. One 

statement of these is:  

 treat others as you would like them to treat you, and not in ways that neither 

you nor they would like  

 

 live for the happiness of others as well as your own, because we are all of 

equal value  

 

 do no harm that you can avoid 

 

 use your intelligence to look for evidence to guide your thinking 

 

 always consider the consequences of your actions. 

 

Statutory multi-faith RE has a massive contribution to make to social cohesion. One 

of the key purposes of this syllabus is to ‘develop in pupils an aptitude for dialogue 

so that they can participate positively in our society, with its diverse religions and 

worldviews.’ (p.6) Multi-faith education is essential so that everyone can understand 

and perhaps appreciate the values in different religions. But much more is needed to 

involve non-religious children fully in in this task. RE has to build mutual appreciation 

between religious and non-religious children. This can only be done by giving full 

respect to the values and beliefs of non-religious children as well, so that those with 

religious faith understand that others can be as good as they are even without the 

help of God. Only if those without faith feel their beliefs are valued will they be 

ready to fully respect and learn from those of religious believers.     

Showing that the values of Humanism are shared by the faiths when they are at 

their best is the sure route to mutual respect. This is why detailed study in this Unit 

of the relevance of Humanism, and reinforcement by consistent references 

throughout the syllabus, are essential to its success. 

 

Page 67



62 
 

Bullet points 1 in L2.7 and L2.8 and bullet point 3 in this Unit all stress the need 

to explore the similarities and differences in the family values, beliefs and goals for 

living of pupils in the class. Humanists value the family, whatever the form it takes, 

so long as it embodies the values of love, responsibility, consideration for others, 

understanding and tolerance, support when members are in need, loyalty and 

teamwork that are stressed in these Units. Family life is where the values of 

Humanism are nurtured and then extended to others. 

Bullet points 2 in L2.8 and 7 in this Unit both identify the value of guidance for 

living. Humanism provides this in the Golden Rule – treat others as you would like 

them to treat you, and don’t treat them in ways that neither you nor they would like. 

More detailed guidance is given by the key principles of Humanism such as 

considering the consequences of our actions (not too dissimilar to karma in bullet 

point 3 in L2.8, other than that for Humanists responses to our behaviour come from 

natural human causes, not supernatural forces), seeking to promote happiness, and 

acting so as to avoid harm and reduce misery. 

  

Bullet points 3 and 4 in Unit L2.7 In addition to these points, Humanists 

following the Golden Rule challenge all forms of discrimination, because they are 

unfair, cause harm and suffering, and deny people their human rights. The British 

Humanist Association strives to preserve the rights of women to safe and available 

abortion within the limits set down by the law, and to achieve the legalisation of 

voluntary euthanasia to die with dignity as a right for us all. While individual 

Humanists may have some differences of opinions on these controversial topics, 

Humanism means seeking social and economic justice and a decent life for all, so all 

Humanists work in one way or another to help others in their community. They 

support charities and work to increase welfare both locally and world-wide. 

Humanism means concern for other people, other species and the planet, thinking in 

the long term for the welfare of future generations and life on earth. Humanists 

have many purposes in their lives, and acting on them in the ways suggested by the 

activities below makes their lives meaningful. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s  resource pack ‘Understanding Humanism’ found 

at (http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/) gives the Humanist 

perspective on the Golden Rule and ethics generally. ‘What is the Golden Rule?’ 

gives a statement of the  Golden Rule and many examples of it worldwide together 

with a map (see activity suggestion below).There is also, from ‘Humanism4schools’, 

a short video statement of the Rule by the children’s writer Philip Pullman entitled 

‘Humanism and the Golden Rule’. 

Page 68

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/


63 
 

 

There are discussion topics such as ranking a number of rules, a dilemma about 

whether to tell a lie where the truth might cause harm, and an example of well-

meaning misuse of the Golden Rule. There are also many interesting and challenging 

activities about moral dilemmas when applying the Golden Rule in everyday life, 

such as road or rail accidents where you can decide the number of people who will 

be hurt, seeing someone stealing money but in a good cause, and whistle-blowing. 

 

Referenced in this section of the resource are short videos in ‘Humanism4schools’. 

Two feature the children’s writer Philip Pullman: in ‘The importance of human 

nature’, he talks about the importance of our conscience as part of our nature, and 

fair and unfair behaviour; and in ‘What do we mean by behaving well?’ he describes 

the reasons for the good behaviour of one of the characters in ‘Northern Lights’, the 

first in his series of books ‘His dark materials’. In another video in this series, ‘How 

do Humanists decide what is right and wrong?’(2), several Humanists give their 

personal views. There is also an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What 

makes something right or wrong?’ 

 

‘Understanding Humanism’ also includes ‘Humanist Perspectives’ providing 

information and slide presentations on many issues including discrimination and 

prejudice, wealth and poverty, abortion and euthanasia. The slide presentations on 

abortion and euthanasia include a variety of case studies for discussion of whether 

individual situations provide acceptable grounds for the procedures, and all 

‘Humanist Perspectives’ conclude with stimulating and thought-provoking questions. 

 

 initial group discussions could include: 

 why people may sometimes feel dislike of others – though this is only 

advisable if there is no evident antagonism towards any group in the 

class, and discussion can focus on a group not represented there 

 things children like about their friends 

 what children think their family’s values are. Ranking or prioritising 

develops discussions here: what matters most? Is it forgiveness, 

kindness, honesty, fairness, sharing money or communicating well? 

 

 groups could:  

 work out the best response they could make if they heard a prejudiced 

comment about a person of another race or religion, or someone who 

has a disability or is evidently poor. Each group could be given a 

scenario illustrating one of those situations, and they could share their 

conclusions. Discussions might be structured around questions such as 

whether they would comment or act, how they would do so, and when 

– at the time or afterwards? A general discussion on whether they 

Page 69



64 
 

would use religion or concern for the other person’s happiness as their 

guide would end the session appropriately. 

 

 discuss fair treatment of women and men, girls and boys. So many 

situations could be chosen: from everyday sexism, to why most carers 

are women and why they are poorly paid, whether there are more 

heroes than heroines in the stories they read – or even why Mary Ann 

Evans had to call herself George Eliot so that men would bother to read 

her wonderful books a hundred and fifty years ago!  

 

 research and compare the views on women’s rights and responsibilities 

in Christianity and Islam. What views do they think Humanists would 

hold about this?  

 

 discuss whether it is fair or right that a British Muslim man should be 

feared because he wears a beard and might be a terrorist, or that a 

Muslim woman should be thought not to be British because she wears a 

veil or face covering.  

 

 discuss what understanding of Islam they have gained from learning 

about it, considering the question: could people who are Muslims be 

treated more fairly in Britain today?  

 

 choose an example of possibly unfair treatment (eg giving a normally 

badly behaved pupil a special reward for an act of ordinary good 

behaviour) and discuss why this was done and whether it is justified.  

 

 list examples of things that the children find it difficult to tolerate and 

discuss whether they think anything could make them change their 

minds. Their group might come up with suggestions to help!  

 

 be given a different example of bad behaviour like stealing, being 

unkind, bullying or letting a friend down, telling a lie, or bearing a 

grudge, and ask them to find reasons why their religion, or a principle 

like the Humanist Golden Rule, would prevent them acting that way. 

Sharing their responses with the class would lead to exploring whether 

a religious reason is any more effective than a non-religious one.  

 

 discuss whether it is fair if a few people in the country are over a 

hundred times better off than the rest of us, and whether it matters. 

 

Page 70



65 
 

KEY QUESTION U2.7:  WHAT MATTERS MOST TO CHRISTIANS AND 

HUMANISTS? 

This is the only Unit in the syllabus that includes Humanism in its title.  Despite the 

overall advice to give non-religious and Humanist children and their beliefs equal 

respect, there is no single Unit on ‘What is Humanism’? Furthermore, this Unit itself 

has a strong Christian emphasis.  To implement the philosophy of the syllabus, 

Humanism should be given full and equal treatment so that its significance is clear to 

all students. So this support document provides the information to make that full 

and equal treatment possible. However, it needs to be said that even if this Unit is 

re-balanced in this way, the Humanist perspective within the syllabus will only be 

significant for the children if opportunities are taken to integrate it consistently year 

on year. 

These notes draw on the seven pages of ‘Teaching and learning ideas and activities’ 

(TLIA) in the more detailed additional guidance provided for teachers by the RE 

Today team. 

Bullet point 1 Children will almost certainly give the example of bullying as a 

‘naughty act’. This gives an ideal opportunity to stress the importance of 

consequences, as noted in TLIA p4, bullet points 3 and 4, and TLIA p6, bullet points 

3 and 4. The human ability to consider consequences is central to Humanist 

explanation of good and bad.   

Bullet point 2 identifies the Christian view of good and bad, but the non-religious, 

Humanist view is not identified. It will only come out in exploring answers to the 

opening questions on reasons for good and bad behaviour, and needs to be equally 

clearly identified. For Humanists an understanding of good and bad comes from 

human experience, not from supernatural guidance. Humanists believe that human 

beings: 

 have the potential for both unselfish (good) and selfish (bad) behaviour that 

creates either happiness or misery for others  

 have a natural understanding of the benefits of cooperation as a result of our 

shared experiences, which  is sometimes called our conscience 

 make their choice between good and bad actions depending on the strength 

of their ability to care and feel compassion, which will depend very much on 

their upbringing and the influence of those they meet 

 have the capacity to understand the likely consequences of their actions and 

act accordingly. 

Bullet point 4 is the specific opportunity to introduce Humanism as a belief system 

– as ‘a code for living’ of equal value to that of any religion. The Humanist slogan is 

Page 71



66 
 

‘Good without God’. Fuller details are suggested in TLAI p.5 ’What is a Humanist? 

What codes for living do non-religious people use?’.  

Here there are many welcome points, particularly:  

 the acknowledgement that many people are not part of a religion, and that 

they seek to be good without god (48% in the most recent British Social 

Attitudes survey) 

 the listing of (four) principles of Humanism, even though these need 

improvement as shown below 

 the emphasis on values 

 the recognition that Humanist values share much common ground with those 

embraced by world faiths, especially the Golden Rule. 

 

There are also valuable suggestions (eg bullet point 8, TLIA 6) of a number of 

excellent activities which have no bias towards religion and so are relevant to all 

children. Also the suggested comparisons between Christianity and a Humanist 

approach at certain points in activities would be very useful demonstrations of the 

strengths of the non-religious approach.  

 

But additions and some changes are needed to give a full understanding of 

Humanism. First, the four principles can be restated as follows:  

 treat others as you would like them to treat you, and not in ways that neither 

you nor they would like to be treated 

 

 live for the happiness of others as well as your own, because we are all of 

equal value  

 

 do no harm that you can avoid 

 

 use your intelligence to look for evidence to guide your thinking 

 

 always consider the consequences of your actions. 

 

This re-statement gives the Golden Rule the prominence it deserves, makes ‘love 

your neighbour’ a guide for us all, and lists distinctively Humanist principles.  

 

Bullet points 5 and 7-9 consider values almost independently of religion, and this 

needs to be made clear for non-religious children so that they can appreciate the 

point. These values include: 

Page 72



67 
 

Bullet point 5  ‘Big moral concepts’ that are important to every human being and 

don’t depend on any religious concepts  

Bullet point 7  Sixteen ‘things that matter most’ and how the values that children 

have affect their lives  

Bullet point 8  Three questions about values for discussion  

Bullet point 9  The need to explore the  difficulties that arise when values clash.  

‘Teaching and learning ideas and activities’ (TLIA) are provided in the 

additional guidance provided by the ‘RE Today’ team for teachers of the syllabus. 

These include activities based on the values listed in Bullet points 5-9 above. 

However, these activities do not all fully include the Humanist perspective. Ways of 

providing this are suggested in the following section, listed first according to the 

Bullet points and then the TLAI by page numbers. 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

 Bullet point 5  Suggestions in TLIA 6 on drama and discussion about good 

and bad, right and wrong is an ideal example of how to tackle the ‘big moral 

concepts’ that are important to every human being. Children can see from 

this activity how the first Humanist principle, the Golden Rule, works in 

practice. 

 

 Bullet Point 7 ranking, sorting and ordering the sixteen ‘things that matter 

most’ draws on the second and third Humanist principles.   

 

 Bullet Point 8  discussing ‘whether thinking bad thoughts is as bad as acting 

on them’ is a very appropriate question about values). It shows the 

importance of the fifth Humanist principle about considering the 

consequences of our actions. (However, the first two questions seem quite 

difficult for Key Stage 2 children.) 

 

 Bullet Point 9 discussing the difficulties when values clash is an excellent 

idea. Here is an example. Should you be honest and tell someone that what 

they think or value is rubbish, or do you tell a ‘white lie’ to save hurting their 

feelings? Or is there another way round the problem? At least three of the 

Humanist principles are helpful here!  

 TLIA 8 groups could make two ‘Values Trees’, one Humanist and one 

Christian  so that children can make the comparison. 

 

Page 73



68 
 

 TLAI 5 ranking Humanist principles according to their importance and the 

difficulty in keeping them needs to use the improved list of five principles 

provided above. 

 

 TLAI 10 ask children to include in ‘rules for a better world’ one that would 

prevent conflict between religions - and between religions and aggressive 

belief systems. (If a child suggests everyone being a Christian or a Muslim 

you have of course to point out that this means conflict – and is not likely to 

happen! The world needs tolerance and understanding between religions 

instead.) 

 

Further suggestions:  

 colouring in areas on a world map as you show children where religions 

include the Golden Rule is a very effective way of demonstrating its universal 

nature. Here is a very useful connection with the KS2 Geography syllabus.  

 

 more general issues for group discussions could include: 

 

 whether doing good is more important than trusting God 

 

 whether a believer in any religion can also be a Humanist (see Note 1. 

below)  

 

 what Humanist values should be added to religious values to prevent 

the conflicts that religious faith creates. Do some religious values make 

conflict more likely? 

 

 whether religion played any part in children’s decisions on the moral 

issues they have discussed 

 

 whether obedience to authority, or love and respect, is the better 

guarantee that moral rules will be followed  

 

 whether thinking bad thoughts is as bad as acting on them.  

 

Notes 

1. Humanists disagree among themselves as to whether a religious believer can also 

be a Humanist. For many, perhaps most, Humanists the fact that Humanism does 

not have faith in another supernatural world means that there can be no common 

Page 74



69 
 

ground with religious belief. Religious believers cannot also be Humanists just as 

Humanists cannot be religious believers.  

However, there are religious believers who call themselves ‘Christian Humanists’, 

‘Jewish Humanists’ and ‘Islamic Humanists’. They stress the shared human values 

especially the Golden Rule that is found in all the world’s major faiths. Many 

Humanists respond to this development and feel that it makes interfaith dialogue 

possible and valuable. There is a lot of common ground with Quakers and 

Unitarians, and many Humanists feel that as Buddhism does not necessarily mean a 

belief in God it is a Humanist philosophy!  It is also relevant that many Humanists 

feel there is a spiritual dimension to life, although this is not a supernatural 

spiritualism; this does move Humanism towards the ‘liberal’ thinking in several 

religions (see paragraph 2 on p.36 below in Unit 3.12). So this question is a very 

good topic for debate!  

 

2. Whenever a speaker from one religion is invited in for this Unit, there should be a 

Humanist speaker as well. Trained and experienced school volunteer speakers are 

available for all schools using this syllabus: please contact either the British 

Humanist Association or its regional co-ordinator in Greater Manchester, Rob Grinter, 

on robathome@ntlworld.com. 

 

3. The reference to the Humanist website on TLIA p11 in the extended guidelines 

should now be to ‘Understanding Humanism’ at understandinghumanism.org.uk. 

A google search will usually keep you up to the minute on additions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

mailto:robathome@ntlworld.com


70 
 

KEY QUESTION U2.8: WHAT DIFFERENCE DOES IT MAKE TO BELIEVE IN 

AHIMSA (HARMLESSNESS)? 

Bullet points 1 and 2 It is important to point out to all the children that many non-

religious people believe in living as harmless way of life as possible – to other 

people, to other species and to the planet. It’s important to do so because otherwise 

these qualities seem to be just the province of religion, with people of faith living at 

some higher level of excellence. This could lead some non-religious children to 

devalue themselves, and some children with faith to feel they lead better lives. 

 Avoiding harm is a key Humanist principle, chiefly associated with John Stuart Mill. 

It comes from the ‘Golden Rule’ – treating others as you would like to be treated 

yourself, and not in ways neither you nor they would like. This sensitivity to others 

depends on empathy, the ability and willingness to put yourself in other people’s  

shoes, to realise how they might be harmed or feel offended by a particular action or 

way of behaving. 

The principle of doing no harm makes a big difference to life for Humanists, because 

being compassionate and responsive to the needs of others means that we should  

act to promote happiness and reduce suffering, and try to improve life by acting 

beneficially towards other people, other species and the planet. Humanism isn’t just 

kind words and nice feelings: it requires action, even at one’s own expense, to face 

the challenges of living a good life. This is Humanist morality, acting for the benefit 

and welfare of other human beings; it gives meaning and purpose to life.  

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

 discussions could include: 

 how fully we should adopt the principle of harmlessness, eg by 

becoming vegetarians or vegans 

 whether leading a fully self-sufficient life is possible or useful.  

 a friend asks you what you think of something you know they are 

really proud about, but you think it is rubbish. Do you tell them your 

true feelings or tell a ‘white lie’? 

 would you be prepared to give up something you really enjoy (eg 

exploding loud fireworks on November 5th) because a friend explained 

that it really frightened him or her and their pets? 

 

You could conclude these discussions by asking the children whether they found 

religion helpful in answering these questions or resolving these dilemmas. 

 

 

Page 76



71 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.9 SHOULD HAPPINESS BE THE PURPOSE OF LIFE? 

Bullet point 1 Increasing human happiness is the central purpose of Humanism. 

Humanists define happiness as well-being and contentment, a flourishing that 

creates life-satisfaction for individuals and feelings of communal trust for societies. 

This is a moral undertaking, and taking part in it gives individual lives meaning and 

purpose. Humanists reject the implied contrast between physical and ‘transcendent’ 

happiness as unreal.   

It is important to understand that for Humanists there is no one purpose in life, 

whether it’s attaining heavenly bliss or making everyone happy: we all have our own 

purposes in life. But an overriding purpose is invaluable as a guide to choosing 

others, and Humanists do see creating human happiness as this overriding purpose 

in life. They believe that creating happiness and reducing unhappiness is the basic 

principle of morality. 

The classic Humanist statement is the Utilitarian philosopher Jeremy Bentham’s: 

‘create as much happiness as you are able to create; remove as much misery as you 

are able to remove … it is the greatest happiness of the greatest number that is the 

true measure of right and wrong’. Bentham believed this principle should guide 

individual behaviour and  making the laws. If any laws cause or allow suffering and 

unhappiness, perhaps because circumstances have changed, the laws should be 

changed so that they promote greater happiness instead. For this reason Humanists 

campaign for changes in laws on abortion and euthanasia, with many Humanists 

playing an honourable role in work for LGBT (lesbian, gay, bi-sexual and 

transgender) rights. 

This is ‘utilitarianism’ – aiming for useful consequences for laws and actions. Most  

Humanists support this goal, but utilitarian arguments can lead to using humans as 

means to an end, so other considerations have to be taken into account, such as 

respect for human dignity and human rights.  

The Golden Rule – treat others as you would like them to treat you, not in ways that 

neither they nor you would like – obviously promotes happiness and contentment. 

John Stuart Mill spelt this out when he developed Bentham’s thinking by adding the 

‘harm principle’: that we should do nothing that creates harm because this reduces 

happiness, and we should work actively to remove misery and promote well-being.  

This bullet point also refers to the effort being made in the 21st century by some 

governments, including ours, to measure happiness so that it can be increased. The 

government of Bhutan has made Gross National Happiness (GNH) as important to its 

people as Gross National Product (GNP). Humanists see this as a valuable new 

dimension to national thinking because it goes beyond material items to consider 

quality of life. Because happiness is something that people feel, measuring it 

Page 77



72 
 

accurately is difficult; but people certainly know whether they are happy or not, and 

will say so. 

Bullet point 4  Bentham thought happiness could be measured by calculating the 

amount of pleasure or pain created by actions. He proposed a very useful ‘felicific 

calculus’ that philosophers still use today (though they now call it a ‘hedonistic 

calculus’). Bentham suggested seven factors by which we can measure the amount 

of happiness produced by an action: 

 its intensity  

 how long it will last 

 how likely it is to occur 

 how soon it will happen 

 how much other happiness it may create 

 whether or not it may lead to less happy outcomes as well 

 how many people it will affect. 

Another approach is called ‘positive psychology’, which sees happiness as a process, 

with good deeds creating gratitude and prompting further altruistic actions, making 

a ‘virtuous circle’. This account strengthens the Humanist view that happiness is 

about relations with others and can be completely independent of religion. This is 

obviously not true for the religious who think that it is faith that makes them 

happier.  

There are different levels of happiness, all legitimate. Humanists like to enjoy things 

like good food, football matches and concerts just like everyone. You can get the 

same amount of enjoyment and happiness from a pop concert as a classical one. A 

skilled worker at a craft gets as much satisfaction from his or her work as a thinker. 

So happiness can legitimately be individual happiness in the form of fulfilment for 

anyone, ‘being all that you can be’ (actor Patrick Stewart). This creates a 

meaningful, purposeful life, all the more valuable when the happiness is shared with 

others creating the ‘good life’.  

Bullet point 5 So Humanist happiness is not selfish: it’s totally opposed to the 

consumerist view that happiness is created by material possessions, something you 

can buy. Those are the values of a selfish society, promoted by capitalism not 

secularism. They don’t make people happy and need replacing by social and human 

values creating well-being and contentment. This is moral Humanist behaviour: it’s 

right and good actions that make for happiness and benefit society, bad and selfish 

ones that cause unhappiness and damage society. Everyone can see this is true, and 

so we can change the values in our society: indeed Adam Smith himself believed 

that market forces would lead to a society in which everyone benefited!  

Page 78



73 
 

A possible moral objection to the pursuit of human happiness is that making another 

person happy makes us feel good, and this is selfish. But this is only true if that is 

the only reason for acting well. In many cases the reason why we try to make 

someone happy is because they are unhappy or feel isolated: it’s an act of 

compassion, one of the key values of Humanism. Wanting to make someone happy 

is based on the simple human ability to love and trust others, and the belief that 

every human being has the right to be happy.  

Bullet point 6  Humanists, much like Buddhists, find happiness here on earth, in 

our daily existence. But it is not just a matter of our outlook and mood. For 

Humanists unhappiness in the form of misery and suffering is often the outcome of 

physical circumstances, many of which are the result of human activities which can 

and should be improved. The view of Peter Singer quoted in this bullet point and 

enlarged upon below in Unit 3.10, that no-one can be happy while others suffer, 

makes more demands on our capacity to care than most Humanists can achieve. It 

may be a logical outcome of Humanist thinking, but even Singer recognises there 

are limits to how much we can demand of people’s duty to improve the happiness of 

others. This focuses on the tough challenge of living by the Golden Rule. 

The Humanist answer to the final question in this bullet point is that ‘spiritual 

happiness’ does not negate earthly, physical happiness. This view restricts 

spirituality to some supernatural, better world. and devalues happiness as just 

something physical. Many Humanists feel that religion has ‘hi-jacked’ the concept of 

spirituality by taking this view, and that it has led to a misunderstanding of the 

nature of spirituality and happiness. They see spirituality in the non-material side of 

life – the feelings and emotions we all share, and the values we can develop. 

Happiness is the outcome we value most. The world of the human spirit needs to be 

recognised to give full value to the lives of the non-religious.  

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

  

The British Humanist Association provides some very useful information and 

suggestions for activities in its resource  ‘Understanding Humanism’ at: 

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/meaning-and-happiness/.  

This resource provides examples of ingredients of happiness in visual form, and asks 

children and students to rank them according to various criteria, and create a recipe 

for happiness using their own list of ingredients. There are activities relating to the 

‘Happy Human’ logo of the Humanist Association, and the ‘Why’ game explores 

reasons for happiness and explores these in greater detail.  

Page 79

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/meaning-and-happiness/


74 
 

An animation narrated by Stephen Fry provides a Humanist response to the question 

‘How can I be happy?’ 

   

 an easy introduction to happiness is the Humanist symbol ‘the Happy Human’ 

and a discussion of what this suggests about the nature of happiness. 

 

 students could make a list of things that have made them unhappy recently, 

place them in categories and rank them in order of importance. This could 

lead to a discussion of bullying and its consequences (and how to prevent it), 

or how to respond to a dispute with a parent or sibling.  

 

 students could list things that have made them happy recently, place them in 

categories and rank them in order of importance. Hopefully these will include 

some good or kind act they’ve been involved in, and this would give an 

opportunity to discuss why helping others makes them feel better and 

happier. This is a key point where positive psychological research supports 

the view that ‘my happiness is often found in the happiness of others’. 

 

 this leads on to listing some of the things that make people in general happy, 

including both the material and non-material aspects of life, and discussing 

which of these Humanists would think are the more important. 

 

 group work categorising elements of happiness can be a very productive 

approach to comparing ‘spiritual happiness’ and ‘earthly, physical pleasures’. 

Whatever students come up with that makes them happy can be placed in 

categories like individual and social, short term and long term, or having 

positive and negative potential. A Venn diagram exercise could allocate these 

to further categories of religious and non-religious to explore where these 

overlap.  

 

 this activity leads naturally to discussion of similarities and differences 

between the students’ religious and non-religious examples of happiness. The 

important thing of course is to give value to all examples of happiness that 

create value and don’t create harm. 

 

 a stimulating discussion for students would be to explore how we can all 

cause unhappiness without actually meaning to, by unintended consequences 

of our actions. You could ask students to see if they can think of examples. 

These might be things we enjoy that create pollution and waste, eg holidays 

involving long car journeys or flights abroad; or buying goods produced by 

Page 80



75 
 

sweated labour in poor countries. Would they be prepared to give these up? 

Would that make them less happy? 

 some specific questions could be:   

 

 whether individual ‘spiritual’ happiness is any better than human 

happiness achieved in relations with others  

 

 whether you can buy happiness or go somewhere to get it 

 

 whether you can measure happiness, and how  

 

 whether going to a pop concert makes a person  as happy as enjoying 

a classical one. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 81



76 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.10:  DOES RELIGION HELP PEOPLE TO BE GOOD? 

Bullet points 1 and 2  Most Humanists recognise that religious faith helps people 

as individuals to be good and care for others through charitable and loving actions 

promoted by moral rules and community spirit. Volunteer speakers in schools always 

say this clearly. But they also point out that Humanist principles inspire the non-

religious in a similar direction. The Golden Rule - treat others as you would like them 

to treat you, and do not treat them in ways that neither you nor they would wish to 

be treated – is the key principle. It means doing good and avoiding harm, creating 

as much human happiness, contentment and well-being as we can. This principle is 

at least as old as the ancient Greeks, when Epicurus, who believed that the Greek 

gods had little interest in human life, developed a morality based on the happiness 

and contentment of human beings living a balanced life. 

Humanism is a fully developed morality (or ethic), a set of beliefs and values for the 

non-religious. Its principles are not commandments, but guides to living a good life. 

They depend on care for others and compassion, but also using our reasoning 

powers. Because life throws up an endless variety of situations to which we have to 

respond, we need to assess the likely outcomes of our actions, and be ready to  

change our ideas and behaviour if needed. 

Humanists and the non-religious have as strong a sense of right and wrong as those 

with religious faith. They believe these concepts have evolved as cooperative 

societies have prospered and lived peacefully, while selfish, unfeeling behaviour has 

damaged others and led to conflict and war. These consequences can be seen in the  

past and in the present day. So for Humanists an awareness of right and wrong, or 

good and bad, is part of part of our shared experience: morality is natural to us as 

thinking, caring beings. 

Bullet point 3 gives another example of Humanist principles. Peter Singer, a non-

religious ethicist, is inspired to be good by his hatred of suffering by any living  

creature that may feel pain. He feels that we cannot be truly happy while suffering 

exists. He argues that human beings have a moral responsibility for any sufferings 

we cause, including the sufferings of those we could help but don’t. Peter Singer’s 

key principle is called ‘effective altruism’, driven by the Humanist principle of seeking 

good consequences by effective action to make the world a better place. A list of 

recommended effective charities such as Give Direct can be found at 

www.thelifeyoucansave.com  This thinking, and the action that flows from it, is the 

Golden Rule in action, in its most demanding form. A short video ‘The life you can 

save in three minutes’ makes the point: it can be found on  

https//www.youtube.com/watch?v=onsIdBanynY  

 

Page 82

http://www.thelifeyoucansave.com/


77 
 

Bullet point 8 lists much of the evidence throughout the ages which suggests that 

religion does not guarantee good behaviour. Instead it has often led to conflict, 

violence and warfare in the past, and still does. Humanists would illustrate religious 

intolerance by the savage punishments of the past like burning at the stake for 

heretics and those accused of witchcraft, and in the present like stoning for sexual 

offences and amputations for theft. Humanists find the reasons for these 

inhumanities in the condemnations that the holy books of the monotheistic religions 

made of those who do not follow the teachings and requirements of what is seen as 

the true religion. For Humanism this shows that religion is a human creation used to 

control believers. It is always potentially open to abuse, as demonstrated by the 

justification of the slave trade by the church for almost two hundred years before 

the campaigns for emancipation, by the idea that Christians were morally superior to 

followers of ‘natural religions’. 

For Humanism all of this is totally unacceptable. Humanism has no one doctrine or 

creed that all must follow, and there is no one absolute truth or authority: human 

beings find their own way to a good life, following advice not commandments. The 

Golden Rule requires sensitivity to others and respect for their views even if you 

don’t agree with them. The harm principle seeks to avoid and lessen conflict and 

warfare because these sow hatred, destroy lives, and damage human well-being. 

These Humanist principles aim to create a good life by rejecting all actions that 

damage human happiness. 

But Humanists also recognise that all humans have a bad and selfish side. They 

know that our instincts to behave well can be perverted by the appeal of leaders 

who draw on instincts of fear and dislike of differences. Atheist doctrines that claim 

absolute truth, like the communism of Stalin and Mao Zedong and the fascism of 

Hitler, cause as much conflict, warfare and damage to happiness as religious ones.  

Humanist principles condemn such claims to absolute ‘truth’ because they lead to 

authoritarian policies with dreadful consequences for human beings. Being non-

religious does not guarantee good behaviour, but being Humanist should! 

Religion can lead to both good and bad actions: for Humanists, non-religious 

principles like the primacy of human happiness would ensure that it is the good 

actions that are always chosen.  

 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities  

The British Humanist Association’s  resource pack ‘Understanding Humanism: found 

at http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/ gives the Humanist 

Page 83

http://understandinghumanism.org.uk/uhtheme/ethics/


78 
 

perspective on the Golden Rule and natural evolution of morality. ‘What is the 

Golden Rule?’ gives a statement of the  Golden Rule and many examples of it 

worldwide together with a map (see activity suggestion below).There is also, from 

‘Humanism4schools’, a short video statement of the Rule by the children’s writer 

Philip Pullman entitled ‘Humanism and the Golden Rule’. 

 

There are discussion topics such as ranking a number of rules, a dilemma about 

whether to tell a lie where the truth might cause harm, and an example of well-

meaning misuse of the Golden Rule. There are also many interesting and challenging 

activities about moral dilemmas when applying the Golden Rule in everyday life, 

such as road or rail accidents where you can decide the number of people who will 

be hurt, seeing someone stealing money but in a good cause, and whistle-blowing. 

 

Referenced in this section of the resource are short videos in ‘Humanism4schools’ 

Two feature the children’s writer Philip Pullman: in ‘The importance of human 

nature’, he talks about the importance of our conscience as part of our nature, and 

fair and unfair behaviour; and in ‘What do we mean by behaving well?’ he describes 

the reasons for the good behaviour of one of the characters in ‘Northern Lights’, the 

first in his series of books ‘His dark materials’. In another video in this series ‘How do 

Humanists decide what is right and wrong?’(2), several Humanists give their 

personal views. There is also an animated sketch narrated by Stephen Fry ‘What 

makes something right or wrong?’.        

 

 scenarios of how to act for good  in different situations familiar to the 

students are very effective. How would they, using the Golden Rule, 

compassion, a concern for happiness and the possible outcomes of the action, 

advise and support a friend who: 

  

 is afraid to tell her parents that she is pregnant and wants an abortion 

 

 is being called gay or other terms which are abusive about their 

sexuality 

 

 is being bullied and contemplating self-harm or suicide? 

            After the discussions you might explore with the students whether those      

            with religious faith had or might have different answers, and why. 

 

 ‘class debates’ might be organised, where the class is divided into three, with 

one third putting the case for a particular course of action in history that had 

religious implications, one third putting the case against it, and the final group 

forming a jury assessing whether the case was proved. Examples could be 

Page 84



79 
 

taken from bullet points 7 and 8 in the Unit, eg should the church collude with 

the Nazis in Germany, should the church organise a crusade, or should the 

slave trade be ended. You the teacher could act as the judge giving the 

summing up. This activity would demand research, relevant arguments and 

the use of evidence. Individual pieces of work in preparation for the debate 

on both sides of the argument could be used for assessment purposes. 

 

 

 group discussions could include: 

  

 how important fear of punishment or hope of reward in an afterlife is 

in leading religious people to be good and act well 

 

 what reasons there are to be good and act well if you don’t believe in 

an after-life 

 

 whether we can reason out what is the right thing to do from the likely 

consequences of our actions 

 

 whether religious or non-religious reasons are the strongest reasons 

for being good 

 

 whether you would try to rescue a drowning child if it meant ruining an 

expensive suit – or if you’re a poor swimmer and knew there were 

strong currents in the water, risking your own life? Would religion help 

you to decide? 

 

 whether the ‘bad side’ of human nature can be controlled by the 

thoughtful morality of Humanism’s appeal to the Golden Rule. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



80 
 

KEY QUESTION 3.12:  IS RELIGION A POWER FOR PEACE OR A CAUSE OF 

CONFLICT IN THE WORLD TODAY?  

Bullet point 1 Conflicts are undoubtedly part of the human condition, but 

Humanists argue that these are more to do with clashes of interests than inbuilt 

aggressive tendencies (though these do exist, and conflicts release them).  

Bullet point 2 Peace Walks and the Peace Mala movement in schools testify to 

positive communal instincts as equally significant parts of human nature (bullet point 

2). So does the work of the secular organisations like the United Nations, Oxfam and 

the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament.  

Bullet point 3 These examples show that a religious inspiration is not essential to 

work for peace. But much work for peace does have religious inspiration, and the 

Quaker movement should be quoted in addition to the charities listed in bullet point 

3.  

Bullet point 4 However, as this bullet point acknowledges, there is much evidence 

throughout the ages and in the present that religion does not guarantee peaceful 

behaviour: so many more examples could be added to that of anti-Semitic 

persecution of Jewish people (see those mentioned in Unit U2.10). Religion has led 

and still does lead to conflict, suffering, breakdown of relationships, savage 

punishments for religious offences, violence in its present form of terrorism, and 

warfare.   

This bullet point correctly states that atheists think that religion causes conflicts – 

even though other factors may also be involved. A distinctive view of Humanists is 

that the reason for the inhumanities in religious conflicts lies in the way those who 

do not follow the teachings and requirements of what is seen as the true religion are 

condemned in the holy books of the monotheistic faiths. Two present day examples 

may be useful. Especial condemnation is placed in holy books on those who lose or 

change their faith, and hostility to ‘apostates’ can lead to excommunication from the 

faith, which causes breakdown of relationships within the family. This happens in 

Britain and other western societies where different cultures co-exist. A more critical 

example is the way in which members of ‘Isis’ who believe in one true interpretation 

of Islam and want to establish a new and pure Islamic country, are led for this and 

other motives to kill other Muslims and launch terror attacks in Europe on members 

of other faiths, and especially the non-religious.  

 

Humanists do not think in this absolutist way. Humanism has no one doctrine or 

creed that all must follow, and there is no one absolute truth or authority: human 

beings find their own way to a good life, follow guidance not commandments. The 

Page 86



81 
 

heart of the Humanist critique of religion is that in many faiths belief in the absolute 

truth of doctrines is used to attract and control believers. Religion is therefore 

always potentially open to abuse because of the conviction of believers in a faith in 

their moral superiority to those of other faiths or none. This critique is so much more 

than hostility to religion and it certainly isn’t ‘lazy thinking’ as implied in bullet point 

4. It is more likely that ‘lazy thinking’ is actually the willingness of believers to accept 

a religious leader’s views unquestioningly. 

However, Humanists have to acknowledge that there is the possibility of ‘liberal 

religion’ which rejects the authoritarianism to which they object. Developments of 

this kind have been evident in the Church of England for many years, as is reflected 

in debates in the Synod and more generally. The Sufi tradition within Islam, at 

present under attack from more traditional Islamists, is another example. So too is 

Reformed Judaism. These developments deserve acknowledgement and respect 

from Humanists, and narrow the gap 

Moreover, every principle that Humanists follow means that they cannot possibly act 

in a hostile way to those who disagree with them. The Golden Rule – treat others as 

you would like them to treat you, and do not treat them in ways that neither you nor 

they would wish to be treated – requires sensitivity to others and respect for their 

views even if you don’t agree with them. The harm principle seeks to avoid and 

lessen conflict because this sows hatred, causes suffering, damages human 

happiness and well-being, and can destroy lives. So Humanists try to resolve 

peacefully any conflicts that they become involved in, and support the work of the 

United Nations Organisation. 

It’s worth noting that there is a lot of value in assertive (not aggressive!) argument 

about seeking truth. Humanists do often value robust debate about what is good 

and how certain we can be about what we know. 

Finally, a full consideration of this Key Question needs to tackle the issue of 

Islamophobia because most of those who feel dislike and hatred of Islam are non-

religious. Islamophobia is not a case of religion causing conflict directly, but an 

example of the existence of a religion being a cause of conflict. This happens 

because some aspects of Muslim culture, such as the traditionally subservient role of 

women in Muslim societies, differ from those now accepted in Western society. 

Humanists argue that those who are not religious should not stir up dislike of any 

religion because they disapprove of aspects of its culture (which are changing 

anyway). Our society benefits from diversity and we need to defend it by upholding 

the British values of tolerance and mutual respect. Understanding and persuasion 

are the only way forward, and Humanists criticise anyone who thinks and acts in an 

Islamophobic way. Islamic jihadism and terrorism are another matter: Humanists 

Page 87



82 
 

condemn this utterly, and work with Muslim groups to reduce its appeal to alienated 

young people in their community. 

 

 

Non-religious and Humanist teaching suggestions and learning activities   

The British Humanist Association’s resource for teachers ‘Understanding Humanism’ 

includes in references to ‘Humanism4schools’ a thought-provoking short video clip 

‘War: is it ever right to use violence?’ in which Andrew Copson the chief executive of 

the BHA and the children’s writer Philip Pullman  present two examples in which 

Humanists could argue that violence and war is justified. 

 The BHA video clip is an ideal starting point for discussion of the dilemmas 

posed by violence. Humanists can and do argue against intolerance, but 

words are not always adequate to deal with the violence to which it often 

leads. 

 

 Students could design posters that challenge Islamophobia. Each poster 

should incorporate at least three arguments.  

 

 ‘Class debates’ might be organised, where half the class in small groups 

prepare a case attempting to justify on religious or other grounds 

mistreatment, persecution or conflict in real historical situations, and the 

other half, also in small groups, prepare a case opposing this behaviour. 

Examples could be whether enslaved African people on a West Indian 

plantation owned by a bishop should be forced to become Christians, whether 

a Christian in the 13th century should go on a crusade, whether those accused 

of heresy of witchcraft should be punished or killed, or whether Jewish people 

in Germany in the 1930s should be prevented from continuing their 

professional occupations.  Each group on each side of the debate could make 

their points. You the teacher could act as the judge giving the summing up. 

This activity would demand research, relevant arguments and the use of 

evidence. It would challenge each student to empathise with people in the 

situations being debated.  Individual pieces of work in preparation for the 

debate on both sides of the argument could be used for assessment 

purposes.  

 

 Still more challenging group work might focus on the characteristics of 

religious theocracies like Saudi Arabia. You could perhaps point out similarities 

with secular dictatorships like Nazi Germany and Stalinist Russia (not all 

Page 88



83 
 

secular governments follow the democratic processes and humane principles 

that Humanists believe in!)  

 

 Group discussions could tackle: 

 

 why some people think and act in an Islamophobic way 

 

 how RE can reduce this kind of phobia 

 

 whether Isis is driven most by  religious conviction, or by dislike of and 

anger at life in the secular world 

 

 how to reduce the appeal of Isis to alienated young people 

 

 whether we should prevent radical Imams preaching violence by law 

 

 how Humanists, who oppose discrimination, should tackle the sexism 

that exists in some traditional religious communities 

 

 whether it would ever be right for Humanists to fight and use violence 

to uphold their beliefs, i.e. should Humanists be pacifists? 

 

 how Humanists should respond to ‘fundamentalist’ thinking in any 

religion or political system 

 

 whether the Golden Rule is a better guide to action in a conflict 

situation than a religious response. 

 

 

©Rob Grinter June 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89



84 
 

 

Page 90


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on the 31st October 2017 and matters arising
	6 Humanist Supplement – David Milne

